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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Good morning.

          3  Welcome to today's hearing of the City Council's

          4  Committee on Transportation. My name is John Liu, I

          5  have the privilege of chairing this Committee.

          6                 Today our Committee will conduct an

          7  oversight hearing to assess the safety of our

          8  bridges in New York, and what is being done to

          9  ensure the safety of our bridges.

         10                 As we all now know, on Wednesday,

         11  August 1st, 2007, Minnesota's I-35 Bridge over the

         12  Mississippi River collapsed killing 13 people and

         13  injuring more than 100 people.

         14                 The United States Department of

         15  Transportation, the National Transportation Safety

         16  Board and the Federal Highway Administration are

         17  conducting a full-scale investigation into the cause

         18  of this tragic collapse.

         19                 The collapse sent a jolt through

         20  almost every community in the United States that has

         21  bridges and prompted the federal government, state

         22  and local agencies to take a look to carefully

         23  examine the safety of the bridges within their

         24  respective jurisdictions. The bridges that we all

         25  take for granted are now being examined under a
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          2  microscope.

          3                 In New York, Governor Elliot Spitzer

          4  launched a New York State Bridge Task Force, which

          5  examined all deck truss bridges that are similar in

          6  design as the I-35 Mississippi River Bridge.

          7                 According to their findings released

          8  last week, almost all of the 49 bridges were

          9  considered structurally sound, but four were found

         10  to need further investigation and possible repairs.

         11                 In New York City there are thousands

         12  of bridges of all types and they are operated,

         13  maintained and repaired by various City and State

         14  agencies and public authorities.

         15                 Because New York City has a

         16  population of more than 8 million people, and many

         17  of the boroughs are separated by water, we rely on

         18  bridges in many cases more often than people rely on

         19  bridges in other cities. And it's not just for

         20  travel, but it's also to transport essential every

         21  day items.

         22                 We have seen how bridge closures,

         23  like the closure of the Manhattan Bridge lower level

         24  can seriously disrupt life in New York City for long

         25  periods of time. But I believe that most New Yorkers

                                                            6

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  would endure any inconvenience if it was necessary

          3  in order to ensure that our bridges are safe and

          4  sound in structure.

          5                 Over the past few years we've

          6  examined the infrastructure of New York City and

          7  this Committee with regard to streets as well as the

          8  bridges, with regard to sidewalk and electrical

          9  infrastructure that's beneath the sidewalks, and

         10  this is one of an ongoing series of oversight

         11  hearings that this Committee will conduct to make

         12  sure or to do what we can to ensure that our agency

         13  is charged with the responsibility of maintaining

         14  our City's infrastructure are doing the best job

         15  that they absolutely possibly can.

         16                 Speaker Christine Quinn had called

         17  for this hearing immediately after the Minneapolis

         18  bridge collapsed and she was originally planning to

         19  be here as part of this hearing, unfortunately she

         20  has a death in the family and will not be able to

         21  attend. We send her and her family our best wishes.

         22                 We are joined by members of this

         23  Committee, Council Member Daniel Garodnick from

         24  Manhattan, Council Member Joe Addabbo from Queens,

         25  and Council Member Mike McMahon from Staten Island.
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          2                 We're also delighted to be joined by

          3  one of our colleagues, Council Member David Weprin,

          4  who would like to make an opening statement.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Thank you, Mr.

          6  Chairman. According to New York City DOT's website,

          7  DOT has 787 elevated bridge structures, including

          8  six tunnels under their jurisdiction. Our bridges

          9  and tunnels allow New York City to play a very

         10  important role when it comes to intra- and

         11  inter-state commerce, and we must do whatever it

         12  takes to prevent any interruption or loss of life

         13  due to a major infrastructure failure of our bridges

         14  and tunnels that can be prevented.

         15                 In a post September 11th era, and we

         16  obviously just finished the sixth anniversary, we

         17  have shown that planning and coordination has worked

         18  well in thwarting any further attacks on our great

         19  City. We must do the same when it comes to our

         20  precious infrastructure.

         21                 We must all come together and work

         22  together to ensure that the various parts that make

         23  our infrastructure remain intact and continue to

         24  work effectively.

         25                 Last week I was appalled to see a
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          2  news report on how a company hired to inspect the

          3  Whitestone Bridge knowingly sent inspectors who were

          4  not certified as per DOT regulations. While the

          5  report only focused on one company and the

          6  Whitestone Bridge in particular, this should be a

          7  wake-up call to all of us today. When it comes to

          8  the safety of New Yorkers, cutting corners will not

          9  cut it with us, nor should it with anyone else who

         10  value human life. Should a failure occur, God

         11  forbid, on one of our bridges similar to what

         12  happened in Minneapolis that the Chairman referred

         13  to, we will not only be losing a major artery in

         14  commerce, but we will be losing lives, and that, of

         15  course, is not an acceptable outcome.

         16                 One of the ways to ensure the

         17  integrity and civility of our bridges and tunnels is

         18  to ensure that the integrity of those companies

         19  which we rely upon to keep us safe in complying with

         20  City, State and federal regulations. We should even

         21  go one step further. We must create new standards

         22  above and beyond those currently in place. New York

         23  City is a leader in many initiatives and we can do

         24  the same by passing tougher standards above and

         25  beyond the current ones.
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          2                 When it comes to the safety of those

          3  who live in and visit New York City, we cannot wait

          4  upon the federal government or the State Legislature

          5  to pass tougher standards. It is incumbent upon us

          6  to legislate where we can.

          7                 When disaster strikes, our ability to

          8  remain safe and functional depends on the steps we

          9  take to prepare instances of tragedy. Having a plan

         10  to ensure that our infrastructure is up to par is

         11  the only plan worthy of New Yorkers. That is why all

         12  City agencies must work together with non-City

         13  agencies to ensure that adequate procedures and

         14  efforts are in place, so as to ensure that the

         15  safety or our citizens and visitors are ensured.

         16                 I will be introducing legislation

         17  later this month creating an infrastructure

         18  commission in the hopes of bringing together all

         19  parties to study and address the issue of

         20  infrastructure.

         21                 I don't expect this to be the

         22  ultimate answer, but it would be a start in bringing

         23  all stakeholders together to collectively ensure

         24  that all measures are being taken to ensure the

         25  safety of all New Yorkers.
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          2                 It is crucial whether my legislation

          3  is implemented, or any other proposed legislative

          4  solutions take place, that the issue be focused on

          5  and that we all work together to find the answers

          6  and take the necessary measures needed to avoid the

          7  tragedy that happened in Minneapolis.

          8                 We must not let our guard down just

          9  because the New York State Bridge Task Force says

         10  our bridges are safe.

         11                 The Mayor's PlaNYC 2030 raised many

         12  of the issues regarding our infrastructure. As

         13  Finance Chair of the City Council, I want to see

         14  that our City capital budget, as well as comparing

         15  it to the State MTA and Port Authority capital

         16  budget had the necessary funding to repair our

         17  infrastructure on an ongoing basis and a going

         18  forward basis. Today's hearing is certainly a step

         19  in that direction.

         20                 I look forward to working with

         21  Chairman Liu and my colleagues in the City Council

         22  and Speaker Quinn in addressing the issues of our

         23  bridges and tunnels and coming together to find a

         24  solution, including necessary funding, not band-aids

         25  to a growing problem.
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          2                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much.

          4  We've also been joined by Council Member Darlene

          5  Mealy of Brooklyn. Any other opening remarks? Okay,

          6  well, with that we have a number of distinguished

          7  officials who joined us today, and I want to thank

          8  them all for being here with us. We have

          9  Commissioner Janette Sadik-Kahn of the New York City

         10  DOT, Executive Deputy Commissioner Stanley Gee of

         11  the New York State Department of Transportation,

         12  Chief Engineer Frank Lombardi of the Port Authority

         13  of New York and New Jersey, Catherine Sweeney of

         14  Bridges and Tunnels at the Metropolitan

         15  Transportation Authority, and Jack Kittle of the

         16  International Union of Painters and Allied Trades.

         17  And others, as well. If anybody would like to

         18  testify today, please fill out one of these slips

         19  and pass it to the Sergeant-At-Arms.

         20                 At this point I'd like to welcome

         21  Commissioner Janette Sadik-Khan for today's hearing

         22  and look forward to her comments. And she is also

         23  joined by, I'm sure she'll introduce him, but he's

         24  filled out a slip, so Henry Perahia, the Chief

         25  Bridge Officer at the New York City Department of
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          2  Transportation.

          3                 Welcome, Commissioner.

          4                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Good

          5  morning, Chairman Liu, Council Member Weprin and

          6  members of the Transportation Committee. I'm Janette

          7  Sadik-Khan, Commissioner of New York City Department

          8  of Transportation, and with me here today is Henry

          9  Perahia, the DOT's Chief Bridge Officer. Thank you

         10  for inviting us here to this oversight hearing on

         11  bridge safety.

         12                 In the wake of the tragic bridge

         13  failure that occurred in Minnesota last month,

         14  attention has focused on the condition of our

         15  bridges. And in New York where bridges represent

         16  such an important component of our infrastructure,

         17  such scrutiny is appropriate and welcome.

         18                 My main point to you today is to

         19  assure you and the people of New York that the

         20  City's bridges are safe and in their best condition

         21  in generations.

         22                 Our bridges are extremely well

         23  managed. They are being rebuilt and upgraded by

         24  experts and are subject to one of the strongest

         25  inspection systems in the United States.
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          2                 We have a very strong bridge capital

          3  investment program, which has turned overall bridge

          4  conditions around and will continue to bring more

          5  bridges into good repair.

          6                 City DOT has been an early adopter of

          7  high-tech bridge monitoring equipment and

          8  techniques, and New York City's Division of Bridges

          9  is now further enhancing its inspection capabilities

         10  with additional technology and expertise.

         11                 Bridge conditions and bridge

         12  management in New York are a good news story, and

         13  I'm pleased to be here to share it with you today.

         14                 There are over 2,000 bridges here in

         15  the City of New York that serve a vital

         16  transportation role in linking all five boroughs

         17  together. DOT Bridges Division, which is supervised

         18  by Deputy Commissioner Perahia, include 813 DOT

         19  employees who manage the City's Capital Bridge

         20  Program and conduct bridge inspections, monitoring

         21  and maintenance.

         22                 Our bridges include, among many

         23  others, the notable East River and Harlem River

         24  Bridges, the Belt Parkway Bridges, the pedestrian

         25  bridges and elevated roadways located Citywide.
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          2                 The rest of the 1,213 bridges found

          3  in the City fall under the responsibility of either

          4  State DOT, the MTA, the Port Authority, who you'll

          5  hear from later today.

          6                 As a densely populated City

          7  surrounded by water in all corners, we have an

          8  enormous reliance on these bridges, as Council

          9  Member Weprin pointed out. Many of these structures

         10  were built decades and even over a century ago, and

         11  so maintaining them has been a real challenge.

         12  Despite this, however, the City has done a

         13  tremendous job in making sure they are properly

         14  maintained and safe.

         15                 In fact, the condition of our bridges

         16  has consistently been improving throughout the

         17  years. To illustrate this point, let me point out

         18  the number of bridges rated poor has fallen by 92.5

         19  percent from 40 in 1997 to three in 2006. And the

         20  number of bridges rated fair have fallen 14 percent,

         21  from 530 in 1997 to 456 in 2006.

         22                 Clearly, while the bridges rated poor

         23  and fair has fallen over this time period, bridges

         24  rated good and very good have increased.

         25                 In 1997, 145 City bridges were rated
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          2  good, and by 2006, this number increased 45 percent

          3  t6o 210 bridges within this rating.

          4                 The percentage increase in bridges

          5  rated very good is even more dramatic. In 1997, 55

          6  City bridges were rated very good, and by 2006, this

          7  number increased to 118 bridges, a 115 percent

          8  increase.

          9                 As I noted earlier, today our bridges

         10  are in the best condition they've been in in

         11  generations, and these impressive percentages can be

         12  attributed to the City's realization years ago that

         13  substantial investment in our bridges was needed.

         14                 Many of us recall the troubles the

         15  City experienced with the bridges in the seventies

         16  and eighties with the collapse of the West Side

         17  Highway and the closing of the Williamsburg Bridge.

         18                 Since this time, we have made

         19  tremendous strides in maintaining and investing in

         20  our bridge infrastructure.

         21                 Since 2000, the City has invested

         22  about $3 billion in bridge capital reconstruction

         23  projects, which has included a number of projects to

         24  rehabilitate the East River Bridges, namely the

         25  Brooklyn, Manhattan, Williamsburg and Queensboro
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          2  Bridges.

          3                 Over the last few years, DOT has also

          4  completely replaced other major bridges, including

          5  the Third Avenue, Macombs Dam and 145th Street spans

          6  over the Harlem River.

          7                 Looking forward over the next two

          8  years we will be investing more than $2 billion in

          9  additional capital reconstruction projects on our

         10  bridges, including the Willets Avenue Bridge, the

         11  Brooklyn Bridge ramps in painting, the Manhattan

         12  Bridge, the Belt Parkway Bridges, the ramps at the

         13  St. George Ferry Terminal and the 153rd Street

         14  Bridge in the Bronx. A new vehicular cable-stayed

         15  bridge and the first of its kind in New York State.

         16                 Over the next ten years DOT has $5.8

         17  billion in the ten-year capital strategy plan to

         18  spend on bridge reconstruction projects, including

         19  309 million provided as part of PlaNYC 2030 for

         20  bridge infrastructure state of good repair.

         21                 To get important construction

         22  projects completed quickly, we have used innovative

         23  procurement technologies, such as contracts with

         24  incentive and disincentive payments. To encourage

         25  efficient work, the contractor receives monetary
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          2  incentive for each day the project is completed

          3  ahead of schedule. Conversely, if delays are

          4  attributable to the contractor, the contractor makes

          5  a payment to the City for every day of delay.

          6                 This has been an effective tool to

          7  ensure the timely and at times early completion of

          8  challenging projects on bridges with high traffic

          9  volumes.

         10                 Incentives and disincentives are

         11  particularly useful when we have multiple crossings,

         12  like the East and Harlem Rivers where the early

         13  completion of one bridge permits an early start on

         14  the adjacent bridge. Ninety percent of projects

         15  utilizing this strategy have been completed ahead of

         16  schedule and none to date have been late as a result

         17  of conditions within the contractors' control.

         18                 Reconstructing and replacing bridges

         19  are one part of our efforts to protect this critical

         20  infrastructure.

         21                 Equally important is ensuring

         22  inspections, monitoring and maintenance. Bridge

         23  inspections determine the condition rating of every

         24  bridge and its components and provide us with

         25  important information on where we should be focusing
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          2  our monitoring.

          3                 Our in-house bridge inspection and

          4  bridge management unit inspects all pedestrian

          5  bridges and manages our bridge data.

          6                 The City's vehicular bridges are

          7  inspected by State DEC who also inspect all of the

          8  State's vehicular bridges every two years as

          9  required by federal law.

         10                 Our in-house team conducts follow-up

         11  inspections in monitoring and we use the same rating

         12  criteria as the State. It is noteworthy to point

         13  out, New York State's criteria are more rigorous

         14  than federal requirements and inspections done in

         15  other states, and that they are more thorough and

         16  the inspectors are more qualified.

         17                 State DOT conducts span-by-span

         18  inspection, evaluation and rating for many different

         19  bridge elements. While the federal inspection

         20  system, which is followed by most states, requires

         21  the reporting of ratings for the entire bridge, and

         22  only for a few generalized elements, such as

         23  superstructure, substructure, and deck.

         24                 Additionally, the State requires

         25  bridge inspection team leaders to be licensed
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          2  professional engineers with at least three years of

          3  bridge experience. While the federal government and

          4  most states do not have this requirement. Lastly,

          5  all City bridge inspectors complete a special course

          6  given by State DOT.

          7                 As I noted earlier, the City has

          8  three bridges that were rated poor after the last

          9  inspections. A poor rating means there are

         10  components of the bridge that must be rehabilitated.

         11  It does not mean that the bridge is unsafe.

         12                 If a bridge were deemed unsafe, let

         13  me say in no uncertain terms it would be closed. I

         14  think it is worth mentioning the term structural

         15  deficiency that has been widely used in relation to

         16  the Minnesota collapse is an engineering term of art

         17  used by the federal government to indicate a defect

         18  requiring corrective action.

         19                 According to the FHWA, structurally

         20  deficient means there are elements of the bridge

         21  that need to be monitored and/or repaired. The fact

         22  that a bridge is deficient does not imply that it is

         23  likely to collapse or that it is unsafe. It means

         24  that they must be monitored, inspected and

         25  maintained.
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          2                 Because we use the New York State

          3  rating system, we do not use that term and instead

          4  use the terms "very good," "good," "fair" and

          5  "poor."

          6                 As with the federal terms, the terms

          7  "fair and poor" describe the conditions of bridge

          8  elements and whether they are functioning as

          9  designed.

         10                 Although these elements are not

         11  considered hazardous, the ratings are used to

         12  determine whether the elements require repair or

         13  rehabilitation. Again, any bridge deemed unsafe

         14  would be shut to the public.

         15                 The three City bridges that are rated

         16  poor include the Willow Lake Bridge in Flushing

         17  Corona Park which was damaged by fire and is closed.

         18                 The second is the pedestrian bridge

         19  at 78th Street over the FDR Drive. The columns on

         20  this bridge have been shored and there is shielding

         21  under the concrete to protect against spalling. As a

         22  result, the bridge remains safe until its

         23  reconstruction, which is expected to begin in about

         24  a year.

         25                 The third bridge is the Brooklyn
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          2  Bridge. It was given a poor rating during its last

          3  inspection because there are certain elements of the

          4  bridge that need to be rehabilitated. While the main

          5  spans are in good condition, the decks on both the

          6  Manhattan and Brooklyn ramps to the bridge are

          7  aging, and will be replaced during a rehabilitation

          8  project beginning in 2010.

          9                 It should be noted that of the 75

         10  spans of the Brooklyn Bridge, only six spans

         11  contribute to the low condition rating, and none of

         12  them are among the three suspended spans, that's the

         13  spans between the anchorages.

         14                 Nevertheless, we have instituted a

         15  new program whereby poorly rated components of poor

         16  bridges are inspected every three months.

         17                 For example, we've recently inspected

         18  the poorly rated components on the Brooklyn Bridge

         19  to ensure that the bridge remains safe.

         20                 We are also proposing an enhancement

         21  of bridge inspections so that we can monitor

         22  critical components on all bridges with a condition

         23  rating of 3.5 or below, more frequently.

         24                 We also propose to contract for

         25  underwater inspection service and we will add remote
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          2  monitoring equipment on bridges as required.

          3                 In addition, the City has been at the

          4  forefront of utilizing new technology to assist us

          5  in the monitoring of our bridges.

          6                 For example, utilizing strain gauges

          7  to monitor the deck of the Williamsburg Bridge and

          8  crack propagation on the Manhattan and Brooklyn

          9  Bridges and x-ray diffraction to test stresses and

         10  critical steel members on the East River Bridges.

         11                 We are also using fiberoptic sensors

         12  to monitor the forces in suspenders on the Manhattan

         13  Bridge and stresses and girders on the Paerdegat

         14  Bridges.

         15                 Ultrasonic testing is another

         16  technology that we are applying on the eyebars of

         17  the Queensboro Bridge to examine the condition of

         18  the critical details in the top chord of the truss.

         19                 Lastly, a new package of technologies

         20  will be tested for its effectiveness on monitoring

         21  the condition of the high-strength wires in the

         22  Manhattan Bridge cables.

         23                 DOT's Bridges is also responsible for

         24  preventative maintenance which serves to increase

         25  and preserve the life of our investments, and
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          2  safeguards the integrity of the bridges now so that

          3  we don't run into any problems later.

          4                 Maintenance work includes everything

          5  from lubricating bridge joints and bearings to spot

          6  and salt splash painting, to washing East River

          7  Bridges after the winter to remove salts, to

          8  cleaning drains and litter removal so that the water

          9  does not collect and result in bridge dust.

         10                 In Fiscal Year 2006, DOT spent nearly

         11  $67 million on bridge inspection and maintenance,

         12  and since 1997, over 630 million in annual bridge

         13  maintenance.

         14                 This includes preventative

         15  maintenance funds obtained from the federal

         16  government for the East River Bridges through its

         17  highway bridge replacement and rehabilitation

         18  program, known as HBRR. The City was among the first

         19  to take advantage and receive funds under this

         20  program when it was established in 1997 to help

         21  cities and states maintain their investments in

         22  bridges.

         23                 Previously federal funds were only

         24  available for capital work. Additionally, we have

         25  applied for and expect to receive funds under this
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          2  program to assist in the preventative maintenance of

          3  the City's 25 movable bridges along the Harlem River

          4  and various other waterways throughout the City.

          5                 I cannot overstate the importance of

          6  federal funding for our bridge program. In fact,

          7  about two-thirds of the federal transportation

          8  funding that the City receives from the Federal

          9  Highway Administration is directed toward our bridge

         10  program.

         11                 We obtain approximately $130 million

         12  a year through the federal HBRR program for both

         13  capital and maintenance expenses for the bridge

         14  program. Of the over $3 billion spent for capital

         15  work on the four East River Bridges, 1.2 billion was

         16  provided by the federal government.

         17                 Furthermore, the federal government

         18  contributed $222 million of the 620 million that the

         19  City needed to rehabilitate five Harlem River

         20  Bridges.

         21                 In August 2007, DOT registered a $612

         22  million construction contract for the Willets Avenue

         23  Bridge of which $282 million was provided by FHWA.

         24                 Over the next few years, DOT plans to

         25  rehabilitate seven Belt Parkway bridges for an
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          2  estimated cost of over 620 million of which 400

          3  million is federally funded.

          4                 Two additional construction contracts

          5  for the completion of work on the Brooklyn Bridge

          6  and Manhattan Bridge is expected to cost over $435

          7  million of which $224 million is projected to come

          8  from FHWA.

          9                 We will also be looking to Washington

         10  for not only additional funding, but also policy

         11  changes as the debate gets underway for the fourth

         12  reiteration of Intermodal Surface Transportation

         13  Efficiency Act, the bill that funds transportation,

         14  expires in 2009.

         15                 For example, we will be lobbying to

         16  make more funds available for bridge maintenance and

         17  for the elimination of the ten percent bridge cap

         18  whereby currently no state can receive more than ten

         19  percent of the total HBRR apportionment in any one

         20  federal fiscal year.

         21                 Additionally, with the expected

         22  implementation of congestion pricing, we anticipate

         23  receiving even more funds to ensure a state of good

         24  repair, including over $300 million for

         25  infrastructure.
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          2                 The City has done a great job

          3  investing in its bridges, using innovative

          4  procurement techniques, new state-of-the-art

          5  technology to monitor our bridges and making use of

          6  available federal funding, and the numbers speak for

          7  themselves. Our bridges are safe and are

          8  consistently improving.

          9                 Can we do more? Absolutely. With

         10  additional resources from Washington we can continue

         11  to improve upon our efforts to ensure a

         12  state-of-good repair for this critical

         13  infrastructure.

         14                 Again, thank you for the opportunity

         15  to be here today. At this time we would be happy to

         16  answer any questions that you may have.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you,

         18  Commissioner.

         19                 We've been joined by Council Member

         20  Diana Reyna of Brooklyn and Queens. Thank you for

         21  joining us. And also, Council Member Vincent Ignizio

         22  from Staten Island, and Council Member Alan Gerson

         23  from Manhattan.

         24                 We have convened this hearing, not to

         25  raise red flags or to cry fire and to cause
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          2  unnecessary alarm among New Yorkers, and, in fact,

          3  we call this hearing, we call for this hearing after

          4  the Minnesota Bridge collapsed, but not immediately

          5  after, only after it came to light that some of our

          6  New York City bridges had the same kinds of ratings

          7  and characteristics as the I-35 Bridge that

          8  collapsed.

          9                 Now, Commissioner, I certainly am

         10  happy to hear that we're doing a great job as a

         11  City, making sure that our bridges are safe,

         12  nonetheless, I think it's important to have this

         13  hearing, to bring all the agencies together to make

         14  sure that there is full coordination going on, that

         15  everybody is even understanding of -- has the same

         16  understanding of the same words that are being used,

         17  and there have been some different kinds of comments

         18  that have raised questions about whether everybody

         19  is indeed being consistent across all the agencies

         20  across different levels of government.

         21                 So, over the last ten years, based on

         22  your testimony, Commissioner Sadik-Khan, the

         23  bridges, the conditions of New York City bridges

         24  have improved considerably overall, and yet you talk

         25  about some of the new efforts that are being
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          2  undertaken. Are these efforts that are new since

          3  August 1st? For example, you talked about a new

          4  program whereby poorly rated components of poor

          5  bridges are inspected every three months?

          6                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Mm-hmm.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Are those new

          8  efforts or are they just efforts that have started

          9  in recent years?

         10                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Within 30

         11  days of the Minnesota Bridge collapse, DOT put

         12  together a panel of experts.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: This is the City

         14  DOT?

         15                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: This is the

         16  New York City DOT.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.

         18                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: From across

         19  the country to review our inspection procedures and

         20  capabilities, and the panel consisted by about a

         21  dozen experts from engineering schools, state and

         22  federal government and the private sector, and these

         23  experts confirmed that New York City's Bridges

         24  Program is fundamentally sound.

         25                 But we, at my tenure, after the
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          2  August 1st bridge collapse in Minnesota, we

          3  instituted a program whereby the poorly rated

          4  components of poor bridges are inspected every three

          5  months instead of every six months to step up our

          6  game to make sure the City's bridges are in

          7  absolutely the finest condition they can be in that

          8  we are monitoring all sorts of conditions.

          9                 So, we are proposing budget increases

         10  that will provide additional enhancements so that we

         11  can monitor the critical components on the small

         12  bridges with a condition rating of 3.5 or below

         13  every six months and every three months on the

         14  poorly rated elements. We have already instituted

         15  that review.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: All right. First let

         17  me note that there's a lot of words out there, and I

         18  think you had stated in your testimony -- and we're

         19  going to hear from the other agencies also, so we

         20  want to make sure we spread the time out. I know

         21  everybody here wants to be in this hearing for as

         22  long as possible, so we just want to spread the

         23  wealth a little bit.

         24                 You talk about how, well, when the

         25  federal government says the bridge, a particular
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          2  bridge is structurally deficient, it doesn't

          3  necessarily mean the whole bridge, but that applied

          4  to the Minnesota Bridge as well, the fact that if

          5  they call that bridge structurally deficient, it

          6  doesn't necessarily mean that the entire bridge is

          7  in danger of collapse. In fact, in Minnesota, if

          8  anybody had deemed that bridge to be in danger of

          9  collapse, they would have closed it right away.

         10                 So, here in New York, of course no

         11  one is going to expect that the Brooklyn Bridge is

         12  going to collapse tomorrow, or that any other bridge

         13  is going to collapse in New York City. But it

         14  doesn't happen until it happens, and that's why it's

         15  important to make sure that we're all using the same

         16  words, we're coordinating well among the different

         17  agencies. This task force that was called by the

         18  City DOT, if the State DOT is really in charge of

         19  most of the bridges and certainly the large bridges

         20  and the vehicular bridges, why did the City DOT feel

         21  it necessary to call this agency, this task force

         22  together?

         23                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Mr.

         24  Chairman, we wanted to do everything we could to

         25  ensure that we had the best bridge maintenance and
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          2  inspection program possible. So, that is the reason

          3  why I convened this group of experts.

          4                 I will also add, and I know my

          5  colleagues will speak to this, but New York State

          6  has one of the most instringent (sic) inspection

          7  programs in the country. Federal law requires that

          8  the vehicular bridges are inspected at least every

          9  two years. In New York State DOT contracts bridge

         10  inspection services, you know, with consulting

         11  engineering firms, and basically the requirements

         12  are that you have to have a licensed professional

         13  engineer do these inspections, which is not a

         14  federal requirement, and we go over every span of

         15  every bridge, and not just focus on the

         16  superstructure, substructure, anchorages. So, we

         17  believe that the hands-on approach is working and we

         18  are doing everything that we can to ensure that we

         19  have the best bridge inspection program.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: All right.

         21                 Let me just for a moment clarify what

         22  you've just said about licensed professional

         23  engineers. I have every respect for licensed

         24  professional engineers, but the two exam process

         25  that you undertake to become a licensed professional
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          2  engineer doesn't actually qualify anybody to inspect

          3  the structural integrity of a bridge.

          4                 So, I think early in your testimony

          5  you had talked about how you have to go through some

          6  kind of State DOT course as well.

          7                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Right.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: All right. I just

          9  don't want anybody to think that you become a

         10  licensed professional engineer and you can inspect

         11  bridges.

         12                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: No. Right.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: All right.

         14                 So, in this task force of national

         15  experts that the New York City Department of

         16  Transportation convened, what was the presence of

         17  the New York State Department of Transportation on

         18  this City task force?

         19                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: They were on

         20  it.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay. So, officials

         22  from the State DOT were part of this task force. And

         23  did the State convene its own task force or it was

         24  basically agreed that they would leave it up to the

         25  City to convene this task force?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Well, as you

          3  know, the Governor requested a report, a 30-day

          4  report, which I'm sure you'll hear from my

          5  colleagues later this morning --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Right.

          7                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: -- The

          8  results of which are posted on their websites. And,

          9  so, that, in light of that the Governor put together

         10  his own team of experts on that.

         11                 So, we coordinate very closely with

         12  our colleagues at State DOT, whether it's reviewing

         13  the inspection program on New York City bridges or

         14  coordinating with New York State DOT in terms of

         15  what their inspection program is about. We've been

         16  with them when they went out to inspect the bridges

         17  under the jurisdiction that they have here in New

         18  York.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Was the New York

         20  City Task Force more geared towards pedestrian

         21  bridges?

         22                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: It wasn't

         23  geared towards what type of bridges at all. It was

         24  reviewing our Bridge Inspection Program. So, how,

         25  what is the process that we use --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I see.

          3                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: -- To

          4  inspect our bridges? Is it a good inspection? Does

          5  it need to change?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, the City task

          7  force focused on how the bridges in the City are

          8  inspected.

          9                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Right.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: The State Task Force

         11  was geared towards actually looking at soundness of

         12  the bridges.

         13                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Yes, they

         14  were looking at all deck truss bridges in light of

         15  the August 1st incident in Minneapolis.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.

         17                 We have some questions from Council

         18  Member Joseph Addabbo.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you,

         20  Mr. Chair.

         21                 Commissioner Sadik-Khan, thank you

         22  very much for being here today and for your

         23  optimistic and promising testimony. You know, all

         24  too often possibly in the City we say the City is

         25  reactive instead of proactive to dangerous
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          2  situations and tragedies. And I know you mentioned

          3  some changes were made in light of this sort of

          4  tragedy, but so that we are crystal clear, if none

          5  of these extra changes in the task force and so

          6  forth was made in light or in the wake of the

          7  Minnesota tragedy, if no changes were made, are you

          8  confident that DOT was doing the right job in

          9  regards to inspections and maintenance of our

         10  bridges?

         11                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: I do (sic).

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Okay.

         13                 In regards to the ratings, you had

         14  mentioned a lot of them were improved, and you also

         15  mentioned in your testimony that the ratings were

         16  done pretty much in-house, correct? The ratings of

         17  poor and fair?

         18                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: The ratings

         19  are done by New York State DOT.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Some of them

         21  are done by New York City DOT as well?

         22                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Just the

         23  pedestrian bridges.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Okay. Okay.

         25                 The ones that are done, the
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          2  pedestrian bridges, the ones that are done by New

          3  York City inspectors, what would be your response to

          4  those who may feel that these in-house kind of

          5  inspections are sort of a conflict of interest that

          6  possibly the contracting out report would be more

          7  accurate? What would be your response to something

          8  like that?

          9                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Henry, do

         10  you want to talk to that?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PERAHIA: Yes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Can you

         13  identify yourself, please.

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PERAHIA: My name

         15  is Henry Perahia. I'm the Deputy Commissioner and

         16  Chief Bridge Officer.

         17                 Our engineers are extremely well

         18  qualified. They do not report to the inspection and

         19  maintenance folks, so they're totally independent of

         20  that. And they do, after a couple of inspections,

         21  have a familiarity with the conditions of a bridge

         22  that a private entity would not have.

         23                 They also can do monitoring which a

         24  private entity would be more hardpressed to do.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: So, because
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          2  of the procedure for reporting, there would be no

          3  conflict of interest, correct?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PERAHIA: None.

          5  And we use the exact same standards as the State.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Right. And

          7  the State standards being stricter than the federal

          8  standards, correct?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PERAHIA: Correct.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Okay.

         11                 And lastly, because I know my

         12  colleagues have questions, lastly, you mentioned

         13  also funding, capital dollars, in regards to

         14  inspectors and maintenance over the past number of

         15  years, again not to be reactionary to tragedy, but

         16  proactive, the amount of funding for both inspectors

         17  and maintenance increased over the last couple of

         18  years would you say?

         19                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Yes.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: And, again,

         21  the intent of DOT would be to look to increase that

         22  funding, correct?

         23                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Yes.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Okay. Thank

         25  you very much, Mr. Chair.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Council

          3  Member Addabbo.

          4                 Council Member McMahon.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Thank you,

          6  Mr. Chairman, and good morning, Commissioner. It's

          7  really nice to see you again.

          8                 Just quickly, the Staten Island

          9  project for the Staten Island ferry. The bridges,

         10  the ramping, can you give me a time frame on when

         11  that will be done? You've gone back and forth a few

         12  times.

         13                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Yes, I can.

         14                 The bus ramp project is a

         15  reconstruction, as you know. The bus ramps across

         16  the St. George Ferry Terminal. We are aware of the

         17  importance of this facility, almost 20 million

         18  people utilize this facility on an annual basis, and

         19  we have accelerated the project from FY '11 to FY

         20  '09 and we expect Request for Proposals in about a

         21  month.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: In about a

         23  month.

         24                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: And, so, you
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          2  expect funding will be in place in '09 or the

          3  project will begin in '09?

          4                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Both.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Both, okay.

          6  And that's for the total reconstruction of all the

          7  ramps?

          8                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Correct.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Okay. Thank

         10  you very much.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Council

         12  Member McMahon.

         13                 Council Member Garodnick.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Thank you,

         15  Mr. Chairman. Good morning to both of you and thank

         16  you for being here.

         17                 I just wanted to follow-up on a few

         18  things.

         19                 The first is the point that you made

         20  about the high-tech monitoring equipment techniques.

         21  I was interested in hearing about that specifically

         22  because having looked at some reports about a

         23  federal highway administration study back in 2001,

         24  which dealt with the issues of visual inspections

         25  and the flaws that exist potentially for simply
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          2  using visual inspections for bridges, it was a sort

          3  of a test run, as I understand it, which said that

          4  49 bridge inspectors from across the country examine

          5  and test bridges in Virginia and Pennsylvania, and

          6  only four percent of them had identified fatigue

          7  cracks. So, I was interested to hear about some of

          8  the higher tech techniques that you are using, and

          9  maybe if you could -- you noted them in your

         10  testimony, so maybe you could mention what

         11  percentage of the inspections are being done using

         12  those high-tech techniques.

         13                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Well, I will

         14  start and then Henry can fill in.

         15                 I think it's really important to note

         16  that the hands-on approach is really, that is the

         17  approach for bridge inspections throughout the

         18  country, very much endorsed by Ashtow and all of the

         19  bridge maintenance folks. The primary method

         20  nationally and worldwide is visual hands-on

         21  inspection. The inspection teams, we've done

         22  everything we can to ensure that we've got the best

         23  inspection teams possible. They're guided by a

         24  licensed professional engineer, by State of New

         25  York, all inspectors have to go through a bridge
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          2  inspection course in Albany, these are

          3  differentiators from what the national standards

          4  are.

          5                 DOT, we've used in different

          6  non-destructive technologies to take a look at our

          7  bridge conditions, to enhance the visual

          8  inspections, and that's the strain gauges, the sound

          9  monitoring systems, the x-ray differentiation,

         10  fiberoptics sensors which we're building into bridge

         11  construction contracts that we're letting right now

         12  to ensure that those are included, those fiberoptics

         13  are included in the designs that we have going

         14  forward. But that said, you know, you need to tailor

         15  the different technology for specific locations, and

         16  there is no substitution for eyes and ears and being

         17  out there. In addition, you need people to be able

         18  to monitor what it is that you can use the new

         19  technology for. So, it's not a replacement. There's

         20  not going to be a time when we have just like x-ray

         21  sensors and accelerometers that are out there that

         22  we're monitoring from a remote location, there is

         23  nothing like being out there and seeing it. But we

         24  are doing, since 1996 New York City DOT has really

         25  been on the cutting edge of taking advantage of the
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          2  new technologies that are out there and using them

          3  and trying out what's new and what works on New York

          4  City DOT bridges.

          5                 In fact, Dr. Yarnath, who works at

          6  New York City DOT, participates on a National

          7  Academy of Science Board that's looking at the

          8  adoption of different types of technologies around,

          9  and we believe that we do whatever we can to stay

         10  current and really sort of ahead of the curve in

         11  taking advantage of the technologies that are out

         12  there to help us enhance our current Bridge

         13  Inspection Program.

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PERAHIA: Yes, let

         15  me add that Dr. Yarnath, who heads the Bridge

         16  Inspection Division, was on the review board for the

         17  FHWA report that you referred to. We were one of the

         18  first entities to use acoustic monitoring for

         19  fatigue cracking in 1992. We're using strain gauges.

         20  Again, as the Commissioner said, the kind of

         21  monitoring that you're going to use depends on the

         22  problem you're looking at which first has to be

         23  identified by a visual inspection. But in terms of

         24  fiberoptics, in terms of the acoustic monitoring, we

         25  were on the forefront. The project we're doing with
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          2  the federal government to investigate the monitoring

          3  for bridge cables, again, is at the forefront of

          4  this technology.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Thank you.

          6  Let me just, I appreciate that and I think the

          7  technology is really a compliment to what is the,

          8  just the boots on the ground approach of making sure

          9  that the things are working, with visual and other

         10  mechanism testing that are out there which you use

         11  individuals for. Can you give a sense of how

         12  frequently, without a problem being reported,

         13  inspectors go out to the various bridges that are

         14  within the City's Department of Transportation, and

         15  identify a problem that they did not know exists?

         16  Can you give us a sense, whether in percentage

         17  terms, of, you know, 1,000 inspections last year

         18  there were two or 20 or 100, can you give us a sense

         19  of that? Because you would expect that if somebody

         20  was reporting a problem which could be seen from a

         21  car or from a train that somebody knows specifically

         22  what they're looking for, I'm real curious to know

         23  about the situations where they don't know what

         24  they're looking for and how frequently problems are

         25  identified.

                                                            44

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PERAHIA: Right

          3  now we get about --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Mr. Perahia, could

          5  you just pull the mic closer?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PERAHIA: Okay.

          7  I'm sorry.

          8                 Right now we get about 1,200 new

          9  flags a year. But again, the conditions of the flags

         10  could be from a minor structural condition to

         11  something as small as a tripping hazard. That would

         12  constitute a flag. We used to, about ten years ago,

         13  get about 3,000 per year. So, we're just about

         14  reaching steady state. Again, it's very rare that

         15  without an accident, a car hitting a bridge, or a

         16  boat hitting a bridge, it's very rare that without

         17  an accident we're going to get a brand new

         18  condition. Usually it's a condition that has

         19  reached, like perhaps rusting or freezing of a

         20  bearing, that has reached the condition where it now

         21  needs to be flagged and is now in repair.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Something

         23  which you have seen over a period of time is what

         24  you're saying?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PERAHIA: Correct.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: And the

          3  1,200 new flags, are those specifically the ones

          4  which I was asking about, the ones where you did not

          5  see something before? No, actually I think it's the

          6  opposite of what I was saying. So, those are

          7  situations where something has become a problem and

          8  it then becomes flagged, but it's something that you

          9  could have seen before and you had been watching?

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PERAHIA: For the

         11  most part it's the latter. Every once in awhile

         12  we'll have a condition where it has not seen before,

         13  usually caused by an accident, but, again, if there

         14  is anything that is of urgent condition, the State

         15  or we use a terminology called "PIA," Prompt Interim

         16  Action, if something needs immediate repair and it's

         17  deemed Prompt Interim Action, it gets attended to

         18  within 24 hours. Those are relatively rare, but they

         19  happen.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Let me just

         21  move on to the questions specifically about the

         22  Brooklyn Bridge and the state of that bridge in

         23  particular. And also to note, I mean the Queensboro

         24  Bridge is one which one side of it is in my Council

         25  district, and that, as I understand it, is one of
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          2  the highest number of vehicles in any given day,

          3  183,000 which comes out to around, by my math, 67

          4  million car trips per year, and you think about that

          5  bridge which was built in 1909 at a time when there

          6  were no car trips to speak of, and now today sees 67

          7  million car trips a year, and the Brooklyn Bridge

          8  similarly I think with 137,000 per day now with

          9  about 50 million per year. Can you just help us

         10  understand what big picture steps, and this is not

         11  something I would expect is done on an annual basis,

         12  but to prepare bridges like these, which were

         13  initially built for much more mellow uses, to

         14  withstand the punishment of 50 or 67 million car

         15  trips on a given year; can you give us a sense of

         16  the big picture structural needs of these bridges to

         17  ensure that they are prepared?

         18                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Well, if you

         19  take a look at the East River bridges, the

         20  Manhattan, Williamsburg and the Queensboro Bridges

         21  are, all three of them are undergoing reconstruction

         22  and have gone, already undergone major

         23  reconstruction. And because of these projects and

         24  the federal preventative maintenance program which

         25  we talked about earlier, there is almost a constant
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          2  presence of professional engineers on the bridge

          3  that supplements the regular inspections that are

          4  performed by the state.

          5                 So, we've got people out there, you

          6  know, with $3 billion invested over ten years on

          7  these bridges, we are bringing them up to a state of

          8  good repair that will serve New York City residents

          9  for the next 100 years.

         10                 So, that is what we are doing,

         11  basically rebuilding these bridges so that they are

         12  as strong and solid that they can be and serve the

         13  City of New York for the next hundred years.

         14                 The piece that you asked about what

         15  are we doing on the Brooklyn Bridge, as I mentioned

         16  in the testimony, we have shored up the approach

         17  ramps which assure that the poorly rated components

         18  will not result in unsafe conditions and we are

         19  conducting inspections of these components every

         20  three months. So, as I noted, the causes of the poor

         21  rating will be remedied in major rehabilitation of

         22  the ramps, scheduled to start in 2009, 2010.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: The last

         24  question for me, since I know there are a lot, I

         25  understand that the State, New York State inspection
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          2  ratings are a little tougher than the federal

          3  rating, which is good for us, and I'm glad to hear

          4  that, and that there are a lot of different elements

          5  maybe divided into 47 structural elements or 25

          6  other components whereas the federal rating may just

          7  have three or four big picture questions.

          8                 Is there any danger, when you slice

          9  the data as thin as that, that maybe we run a risk

         10  of not seeing the bigger picture of the full state

         11  of the bridge?

         12                 For example, you gave the example of

         13  75 spans on the bridge, only six of which

         14  contributed to the poor rating; is that right?

         15                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Right.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: So, how do

         17  we feel confident that those six could not create

         18  the most dangerous condition, which could give the

         19  overall bridge an overall dangerous rating, or is

         20  that exactly where we are with the poor rating?

         21                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: The bridge

         22  elements are evaluated and weighted according to the

         23  condition, the importance of the structure. So,

         24  approach ramps are not the same as spans that go

         25  across the water. And, so, basically what we've done
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          2  in New York State is say we are going to have the

          3  most comprehensive inspection program that we can

          4  have, which gets us beyond just that overall view

          5  and gets us literally into the weeds, you know,

          6  crawling up the bridges, and ensuring that every

          7  single component is sound.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: So

          9  weighting I think is the answer to that.

         10                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Correct.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Which is

         12  that certain things are worth more for the

         13  inspection than others.

         14                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Right.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Okay, I

         16  appreciate that. Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Council

         18  Member Garodnick.

         19                 Questions from Council Member Mealy.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Good morning.

         21                 I hear in your testimony you

         22  instituted a new program whereby a poorly rated

         23  component of poor bridges are inspected every three

         24  months; could you tell me how often before you

         25  implemented this, how often did you inspect the
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          2  bridges?

          3                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Every six

          4  months.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Every six

          6  months. And I see you proposed a new contract about

          7  the underwater inspection service; how often are you

          8  going to do that? You say at the end that you're all

          9  just going to pose it, and you're going to contract

         10  out; who will you contract it out, and how often

         11  will they check the underwater to the bridges, the

         12  stability?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PERAHIA: We will

         14  contract that out to a licensed PE diver. That is

         15  generally done once every five years. We're also

         16  proposing instrumentation that will let us know if

         17  any conditions have changed drastically that would

         18  cause us to want to send a diver down sooner.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: What

         20  specifically would they be checking for? The

         21  infrastructure of the bridges, or different

         22  components of the bridges?

         23                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Well they'll

         24  be looking for scour, which is water damage.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: I just want to
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          2  ask one more question. Do you think it's an

          3  overlapping between New York City DOT and New York

          4  State DOT with this rating of the bridge, poor,

          5  fair, different ones, do all of you all do the same

          6  structuring?

          7                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: We follow

          8  the New York State DOT system.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: But does the City

         11  DOT actually rate? I thought earlier you said that

         12  the State rates, the City doesn't actually rate?

         13                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: We rate our

         14  pedestrian bridges.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay, thank you.

         16                 Questions from Council Member

         17  Ignizio.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER IGNIZIO: Yes. Hi. Good

         19  afternoon. One quick question.

         20                 My concern is not so much to dovetail

         21  on what my colleague Dan Garodnick said on the

         22  technology used, but on the actual inspectors and

         23  their certifications that they have within their

         24  expertise. My understanding is that I've watched the

         25  news report, as I'm sure you did, which showed that
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          2  there are people who are doing inspections which are

          3  not State certified and yet they continue to be sent

          4  out by the State, and perhaps it's a question better

          5  directed at them, but what is in place to assure my

          6  constituents, myself, that the people that are being

          7  sent out by the City and by the State are in fact

          8  certified and are able to conduct the test that the

          9  government has given them the rights to do so?

         10                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Well,

         11  Council member, it's my understanding that that

         12  wasn't a bridge inspection situation, that that had

         13  to do with welding on the TBTA bridge, but that

         14  wasn't to do with the Bridge Inspection Program that

         15  we were talking about this morning.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER IGNIZIO: Okay, so,

         17  similarly, then is it a similar inspection?

         18                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: We have

         19  licensed professional engineers lead the teams that

         20  do the bridge maintenance inspections on New York

         21  City DOT bridges.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER IGNIZIO: But every

         23  inspector is State certified that we have?

         24                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Has a

         25  professional engineering degree and goes through a
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          2  State Department of Transportation course.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Yes, Vinnie, the

          4  State DOT and the MTA are itching to come up, so

          5  we're going to get to them when they --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER IGNIZIO: Okay, I'll

          7  defer the question then to our colleagues from the

          8  State.

          9                 But as far as the City is concerned,

         10  all their inspectors are, in fact, state certified

         11  and are --

         12                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: The heads of

         13  the inspection teams are professional engineers.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER IGNIZIO: So those that

         15  work under there may in fact not be, but  they are

         16  under the licensed --

         17                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Correct, the

         18  guidance.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER IGNIZIO: Okay.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Questions from

         21  Council Member Weprin.

         22                 Thank you, Council Member Ignizio.

         23  Questions from Council Member David Weprin.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Thank you, Mr.

         25  Chairman. Thank you, Commissioner, for that detailed

                                                            54

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  testimony. I do feel a little bit more secure after

          3  your testimony; however, you did refer to the fact

          4  that New York City, in your opinion, has an

          5  extensive capital plan, I guess going back to the

          6  Koch days when the maintenance capital plan was

          7  really increased significantly and obviously that is

          8  good.

          9                 I believe you did testify, though,

         10  that you were going to be requesting, or you were

         11  looking into requesting potentially additional

         12  capital funds, but are you also going to be

         13  requesting additional expense funds to deal with

         14  some of these increased maintenance and increased

         15  inspections? And if so, are you going to be

         16  including that in a potential budget modification

         17  that might come up in the course of the current

         18  fiscal year?

         19                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Yes, we are.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Okay. Can you

         21  give me a little bit more detail? You know, as head

         22  of the Finance Committee I'd like to know

         23  specifically what you're requesting on the capital

         24  side and the expense side?

         25                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Well,
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          2  perhaps it's a little detailed. I'd be happy to go

          3  through that with you off line. We're basically

          4  looking at a $2.5 million increase on the expense

          5  side for additional inspectors and on some

          6  technology pieces. So, that's what we'll be looking

          7  for on the expense side. And the capital program

          8  element was just addressed in the September plan.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Okay. Well,

         10  that's something that I think you'll have my support

         11  on, because obviously it's something that we need

         12  and, you know, as you pointed out in your testimony,

         13  even though you're doing a great job, you could

         14  always do a better job, and additional resources on

         15  the funding side are always necessary.

         16                 What are you doing as far as working

         17  with the other capital budgets regarding bridge

         18  maintenance to try to coordinate the expenditure of

         19  dollars and how the City and State and MTA and Port

         20  Authority have their own existing capital budgets;

         21  what coordination is being done on a regular basis

         22  to kind of see what money is spent where and how

         23  they are being coordinated?

         24                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Well, we do

         25  the budgeting for the City's 787 bridges. That's
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          2  what we do, the budgeting there. If you take a look

          3  at what happens regionally, in terms of the

          4  apportionment of federal dollars, I think is what

          5  you're getting at, those funds are reviewed at the

          6  Metropolitan Planning Organization level, which in

          7  New York is the New York Metropolitan Transportation

          8  Council known as NYMTC. And, so, that's where we get

          9  into the issues in terms of funding allocations and

         10  we'll be working with our colleagues in the region

         11  to ensure that this region receives its fair share

         12  of federal funding in the next reauthorization bill.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Okay. Are

         14  there ongoing meetings between your staff and the

         15  MTA and Port Authority and State DOT? I know you

         16  referred to that task force, which I think was

         17  phenomenal, and I applaud you and the Mayor and your

         18  Department for taking that initiative on your own.

         19  What kind of ongoing coordination, though, is being

         20  done on a regular basis between your agency, State

         21  DOT, MTA and Port Authority specifically?

         22                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Well, we

         23  meet on a regular basis, you know, on a variety of

         24  issues, not only the bridges but in terms of

         25  regional cooperation. So, we meet with our
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          2  colleagues at the MTA on a regular basis, same with,

          3  we'll be meeting later this morning with State DOT

          4  Commissioner Astor Glenn. As I mentioned before

          5  NYMTC, which is the metropolitan planning

          6  organization, is a good forum for that level of

          7  cooperation on all elements that involve

          8  transportation in this region.

          9                 So, the members that also sit on that

         10  include New York State DOT, the MTA, the Port

         11  Authority, New York City DOT. So, that's a lot of

         12  the coordination happens in that forum.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: I applaud

         14  that. And any coordination on a regular basis,

         15  between the overlapping jurisdictions, I think is

         16  positive, and certainly not only in the area of

         17  bridges but there's other infrastructure issues

         18  where the same could be said. But obviously we're

         19  focusing on bridges and tunnels I guess at this

         20  point. But I want to applaud those efforts, and any

         21  way I could be cooperative in that overlapping

         22  jurisdictional meetings or task forces, I think

         23  would be helpful to everyone.

         24                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Thank you.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Thank you, Mr.
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          2  Chairman.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Council

          4  Member Weprin.

          5                 And then questions from Council

          6  Member Gerson.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you very

          8  much, Mr. Chair, for allowing me to participate in

          9  this hearing, given the number of bridges which

         10  touch on my district.

         11                 Just a couple of areas. Commissioner,

         12  the budget, expense budget increase you mentioned in

         13  response to Council Member Weprin's question for

         14  maintenance, will that include an increase to cover

         15  an expansion of personnel or personnel hours for

         16  day-to-day bridge maintenance activity beyond the

         17  application of new technology.

         18                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Yes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Okay. So, and

         20  what was -- could you give us a sense of how that

         21  number translates roughly too? I mean, how much

         22  we're expanding the daily maintenance?

         23                 I mean, the Broad question is, how

         24  can we be sure as a City that we're expending,

         25  devoting sufficient resources for preventative
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          2  maintenance, we're not repeating on the Brooklyn

          3  Bridge or on any bridge, or on any structure the

          4  history of the Williamsburg Bridge, whereby in

          5  difficult fiscal times we had postponed day-to-day

          6  maintenance, preventative maintenance, only to have

          7  to play catch-up fairly recently to make up for a

          8  significant failure to exercise daily preventative

          9  maintenance. You know, the concern is maybe

         10  preventative maintenance, daily maintenance on

         11  bridges and other structures come budget time is all

         12  too easy to skimp on because it doesn't receive, you

         13  know, the focus of some of the more highlighted or

         14  sexier items, how can we be sure as a City that

         15  we're devoting sufficient resources to preventative

         16  and daily maintenance? Do we need to create some

         17  kind of a vested fund? Do we need to have an annual

         18  special review or an inspector's report, or are you

         19  satisfied that going forward we're now doing what we

         20  should do and we'll continue to do so?

         21                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: I believe,

         22  Council Member, that DOT's current resources allow

         23  for more than adequate inspection and maintenance of

         24  the City's bridges, but when it comes to ensuring

         25  safety of all New Yorkers, I guess I would have to
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          2  characterize myself as greedy.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I'm sorry, as

          4  what?

          5                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: So, New York

          6  City DOT is proposing an enhancement on the bridge

          7  inspection program that would require a total of 3.5

          8  million in the first year, and 2.5 million

          9  thereafter annually, which includes 17 positions for

         10  more frequent inspections and monitoring, and I can

         11  go through --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: 17 new

         13  positions?

         14                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Yes.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Well, you'll

         16  provide us the details but that's Citywide?

         17                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Yes.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And that's

         19  enough so that we're not going to repeat the

         20  Williamsburg problem?

         21                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: We are not

         22  repeating the Williamsburg problem. We're not in the

         23  same situation that we were back then. We have a

         24  robust bridge inspection program, we have a robust

         25  Division of Bridges, we have probably the most
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          2  stringent bridges inspection program in the City,

          3  and the Mayor has dramatically increased the amount

          4  of funding for New York City bridges since the Year

          5  2000.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And to be

          7  continued, one last area. The rating system. We

          8  mentioned that because six of what, 75 spans have

          9  some problems and some problems with the ramps on

         10  the Brooklyn Bridge. The Brooklyn Bridge overall is

         11  rated poor. But then as I read your testimony you

         12  seemed to say, well, we should not infer any

         13  conclusions as to safety or lack of safety of the

         14  Brooklyn Bridge because it's rated poor. So, that's

         15  a little confusing to me and to my constituents.

         16                 (A) what is the correlation between

         17  the current rating system and the degree of safety

         18  of our bridges? Is a bridge rated excellent safer

         19  than a bridge rated poor? Is that a reasonable

         20  inference? I mean, there are many situations in our

         21  world where we rate, we have safety ratings, there

         22  is an A plus and there is an F, if these ratings do

         23  not correlate directly to the safety, are there any

         24  ratings which do, and if not, should there be so we

         25  know how safe our bridges are and how close we are
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          2  to a potentially unsafe condition from a clear

          3  rating system so we assure that we ask?

          4                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: I would be

          5  happy to give you, and I know my Deputy Commissioner

          6  Henry Perahia, would be happy to give you a review

          7  of how the rating system goes. I did lay it out in

          8  the testimony but the short answer is if a bridge is

          9  rated in poor condition, it means that there are

         10  components of the bridge that must be rehabilitated,

         11  it does not mean that the bridge is unsafe.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: That's what I

         13  read in your testimony.

         14                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Right.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Is there any

         16  rating which will tell us how safe a bridge is, if

         17  this does not?

         18                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: A bridge's

         19  overall rating is based on the weighted average of

         20  its lowest rated components. There is no bridge that

         21  should be closed to the public right now. If a

         22  bridge was unsafe, it would be closed to the public.

         23  Individual bridge components are rated in accordance

         24  with the State standards. Seven is a new bridge, and

         25  one is a failed bridge. New York State DOT considers
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          2  the ratings below three not functioning as designed,

          3  which New York City says is poor. The rating does

          4  not reflect on the safety of the structure itself.

          5  If a bridge is made safe by temporary measures, the

          6  bridge rating remains poor. The primary function of

          7  the rating is to signify the need for capital

          8  reconstruction.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Yes, I hear

         10  that. And Mr. Chair, let me just state my concern

         11  and then we could, you know, move on and then go

         12  back to it. I'm hearing that there is no direct

         13  correlation between these ratings in safety, and

         14  therefore we're left with a situation that the

         15  bridge is either unsafe, in which case it's closed,

         16  or it's safe in which case it's opened. Well, it

         17  seems to me that -- well, Commissioner, that's what

         18  you just said, we can't directly correlate, then

         19  that's what we're left with. So it seems to me that

         20  there is an in between that we, as a Council, and

         21  we, as a City, can reasonably ask the question, even

         22  if a bridge is safe enough to keep open, how safe is

         23  it? In industry and other public sectors we do have

         24  safety ratings which give degrees of safety. This is

         25  state-of-the-art safety, it's close to being unsafe,
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          2  so if things continue without rapid change, it will

          3  become unsafe. This is in between. And I'm hearing

          4  there is no rating system that clearly sets that

          5  forth, and I guess that's something I'm asking that

          6  we consider and look into, if this rating system

          7  does not correlate to safety directly, could we have

          8  a direct safety rating system?

          9                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: It does

         10  relate to safety. And in fact, we've got one of the

         11  most stringent rating systems in the country, as I

         12  mentioned, and there is a weighted average, I

         13  believe that it was Council Member Garodnick asked

         14  the question in terms of how do we assure, how do we

         15  know, you know, out of the six spans that are at

         16  issue on the Brooklyn Bridge, how does that relate

         17  to the other 75? How do we put that into context?

         18  How do we actually know whether this is a safety

         19  issue or not? And there is a weighted average in

         20  terms of the conditions which are very specific.

         21  They are on a numerical scale.

         22                 Henry, do you want to add to how we

         23  evaluate that?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Could you just

         25  provide us those numbers?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: They're

          3  available right now. You can get those ratings right

          4  now on the State DOT website.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: So, these are

          6  State ratings?

          7                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Yes.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Which directly

          9  correlate to safety, unlike the excellent fair, poor

         10  ratings, which do not necessarily --

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PERAHIA: There

         12  isn't a numerical --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Commissioner,

         14  you just said that a poor rating doesn't mean that

         15  it's unsafe.

         16                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: There's a

         17  correlation.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: So, I'm trying

         19  to get at the core of that correlation; how do we

         20  know? And that's something that will be given to us

         21  by those numeric ratings; is that correct? Is that

         22  what you just said?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PERAHIA: It would

         24  not per se be given to you by the numeric rating,

         25  but the same numeric rating that would, for the sake
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          2  of argument, indicate that we, and I'll use a

          3  hypothetical example, we have a defect, a flag in a

          4  column, the same rating system that would lower the

          5  rating on that column would also generate a flag,

          6  and that flag would be addressed by shoring of the

          7  column. So, there is a correlation there, but there

          8  isn't a per se numerical rating. But when you issue

          9  a flag towards a component, you also give a low

         10  rating to that component. And we repair, we

         11  remediate the flag and we come out there and we

         12  would, for example, in my hypothetical case, shore

         13  up that column so that it couldn't fail and that it

         14  would remain safe.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: All right.

         16  Well, thank you very much. Thank you, Mr. Chair. I

         17  just think we should consider going forward if we

         18  need a more direct correlation. But this is very

         19  helpful, and thank you very, very much.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Council

         21  Member Gerson. I mean, I'll just go out on a limb

         22  here and say that I think with regard to bridges

         23  that are used by motorists and/or pedestrians,

         24  either a bridge is usable, or it's not usable. I

         25  don't necessarily think that it should be up to a
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          2  member of the general public to decide which bridge

          3  to go on based on their own understanding of this

          4  numerical rating system.

          5                 If a bridge is okay to cross, leave

          6  it open. We hope every bridge stays open. If there

          7  is, for any reason, an unsafe situation, then the

          8  pedestrian and/or motorist should not be allowed to

          9  cross that bridge. It's as simple as that. It's a

         10  yes or no, day or night, safe/unsafe criteria that I

         11  think is most important to the general public.

         12                 But we have quick questions from

         13  Council Member Reyna and then Mealy and then we're

         14  going to proceed to the State DOT.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Thank you, Mr.

         16  Chair. I know we need to move on, because we have

         17  the State here. I just needed to ask you,

         18  Commissioner, as far as the design similar to the

         19  I-35 in Minnesota, do we have similar structure here

         20  in New York City? Forgive me if I missed the answer

         21  to that in your testimony.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PERAHIA: We had

         23  five bridges owned by City DOT, three bridges that

         24  are not owned by City DOT, two I believe are owned

         25  by the State, and one by MTA, and all eight of these
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          2  bridges have deck trusses, which have some

          3  similarity.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And the five

          5  that are owned by the City are which ones?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PERAHIA: The five

          7  owned by the City are the Brooklyn Bridge.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: I see.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PERAHIA: The

         10  Queensboro Bridge, the Manhattan Bridge, the

         11  University Heights with 207th Street Bridge, and per

         12  the inventory, there was the 145th Street Bridge,

         13  and the bridge has, since the inventory has been

         14  done, been replaced by a totally new bridge.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: So it's no

         16  longer considered the same structure.

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PERAHIA: It's a

         18  brand new structure, that's correct. And I don't

         19  believe it has a deck truss in it.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: So now we have

         21  four instead of five?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PERAHIA: We have

         23  four. They were recently inspected by the State, and

         24  I'll let the State speak for themselves, but they

         25  found no new conditions in any of the New York City
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          2  bridges that would warrant any concern. No new

          3  conditions since they're last inspection.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And as far as

          5  the Brooklyn Bridge is concerned, that's the one

          6  rated, of the three rated poorly, that's one of the

          7  three that it's supposed to be going into repair in

          8  the Year 2010.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PERAHIA: Correct.

         10  But I should add it's only one of the 75 spans of

         11  the Brooklyn Bridge that have a deck truss. The

         12  other 74 do not have deck trusses.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: So, it has no

         14  other poor conditions, other than those six spans.

         15  Everything else is, aside from the spans, there is

         16  75 total spans, and six of which are not in good

         17  repair. Everything else that makes up the component

         18  of the bridge is okay. There is no other element

         19  that's contributing in addition to the six spans to

         20  raise another level of concern?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PERAHIA: No.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Because when we

         23  spoke about the weighted, I thought, or I

         24  interpreted what Council Member Garodnick was asking

         25  was not just about the spans, but an accumulation of
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          2  different components, whether it's spans plus other

          3  issues?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PERAHIA: Well, in

          5  addition to being weighted, the way the system

          6  works, it's sort of like the weakest link. So, if

          7  you have a component that's rated poor on one span

          8  or two spans, that component gets a low rating for

          9  all 75 spans. So, that will bring down the rating of

         10  the entire bridge, even though 70 of those spans are

         11  fine.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: But a bridge is

         13  not composed of just spans, my point of view when I

         14  see a bridge, you know, there is other components.

         15  My question is really what else is inspected other

         16  than spans, and then is that in good repair or poor

         17  repair, and weighted into that factor?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PERAHIA: The

         19  Brooklyn Bridge is broken down into 75, we call them

         20  spans with 75 segments, everything is in one of

         21  those 75.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: From top to

         23  bottom. Understood.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PERAHIA: Is in

         25  one of those 75 segments.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: That's much

          3  clearer than what I was imagining.

          4                 And as far as the new inspectors that

          5  you hope to be greedy and successful in achieving in

          6  new budgetary dollars, the day-to-day aspects of the

          7  current inspectors, like is it a cycle of eight

          8  hours, every 24 hours? I'm trying to figure out

          9  exactly what are the inspectors' shifts when they go

         10  out to inspect? And what are we going to be gaining

         11  with 17 new ones?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PERAHIA: First of

         13  all, let me answer the second part first. It's not

         14  17 new inspectors, it's about 12 new  -- I'm sorry,

         15  it's about nine new inspectors and we are assuming

         16  that those inspectors will find some additional work

         17  to do, so we've got about eight repairers in that

         18  request, too. Oh, I'm sorry, it's 17.

         19                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: It's 17.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PERAHIA:

         21  Seventeen inspectors, and we've got repairers also

         22  in the budget request so that if additional defects

         23  are found, we have the personnel to go and handle

         24  those defects. The inspectors generally work eight

         25  hours a day, but it's not all at the field, some of
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          2  it is at the field inspecting and the rest is back

          3  in the office writing the reports.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: So eight hours

          5  per day. So, this will gain you 17 new inspectors to

          6  pick up new flag issues, if there are any. But how

          7  does this bring us to -- what is it that you're

          8  going to be gaining from 17 new inspectors, as

          9  opposed to eight new repairs, repair people?

         10                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: It's

         11  basically increasing the frequency of the

         12  inspection, so when I've talked to the notion of

         13  reducing the inspection of the poor spans from six

         14  months to three months, this is what will allow us

         15  to go forward with that.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: So instead of

         17  having the same numbers of inspectors out there, we

         18  currently have how many?

         19                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Forty.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Forty

         21  inspectors. This will bring us to 57 new inspectors,

         22  and because we're doing this currently at six months

         23  and now we brought it down to every three months --

         24                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: I'd be happy

         25  to go through the budget, as I mentioned to Council
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          2  Member Weprin and Chairman Liu, we would go through

          3  the expense budget requests as part of the January

          4  submission.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And what is the

          6  role for eight repair? What is your current eight

          7  repair people? You mentioned eight repair people.

          8                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: I don't know

          9  that I mentioned eight repair --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: No, the Deputy

         11  Commissioner.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PERAHIA: We

         13  expect that with additional monitoring and

         14  additional inspections, we will find additional

         15  flags, and we have eight repair people whose

         16  functions it would be, it would be iron workers, it

         17  would be carpenters, the functions would be to

         18  repair those flags.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And currently

         20  how many repair people do we have?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PERAHIA: We have

         22  about 50 iron workers, a little bit less, 18

         23  carpenters, 23 electricians, 16 oilers, 121 highway

         24  repairers. I'm sorry, and 16 masons and brick

         25  layers.

                                                            74

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And they do all

          3  the work for the City of New York, as far as the

          4  bridges are concerned?

          5                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Yes. We have

          6  about 809 positions actually in New York City DOT

          7  that are handling.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: But this

          9  handful does strictly repairs for the bridges that

         10  the inspectors are the eyes and ears of reporting

         11  back any need for repairs?

         12                 When you find a problem, how long is

         13  the time frame from the time that it's been reported

         14  by an inspector to the time of repair?

         15                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: It depends

         16  on what's been flagged. You know, there are

         17  different time frames for different findings. So, if

         18  you've got a red flag, you've got a certain period

         19  of time that's faster than a yellow flag, it's

         20  faster than a safety flag. These are mandated by

         21  State DOT at the time within which we are supposed

         22  to respond.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And I know that

         24  civilians don't have much expertise in reporting

         25  anything, but we have this 3-1-1 system. Do you,
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          2  Commissioner, see yourself, you know, considering

          3  there is a mass number of people that are going to

          4  be listening to this hearing, keeping up with all

          5  this information, that you would have a suggestion

          6  for a civilian if they wanted to call into 3-1-1, if

          7  they see something on a bridge.

          8                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Mayor

          9  Bloomberg has made it clear that he wants all New

         10  Yorkers to be reporting on any defects that they see

         11  on the streets of New York, and I think that there

         12  has been good evidence that they are out there doing

         13  so.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And so, you are

         15  seeing those types of calls into the system.

         16                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Yes, we are.

         17  Yes, we are.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Thank you very

         19  much.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Council

         21  Member Reyna.

         22                 Council Member Mealy.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Yes, it's going

         24  to be very short. And I remember we marched at the

         25  Labor Day Parade. Had fun.
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          2                 I just wanted to, when your ISTEA

          3  federal fund grant is over in 2009, you said you

          4  will be lobbying to make more funds available for

          5  the bridge maintenance to eliminate the ten percent

          6  cap, whereby no state can receive more than 10

          7  percent, right, of the HBRR? And I was wondering,

          8  what is your plan B, if you do not receive the

          9  congestion pricing money, because that hasn't passed

         10  as of yet. Could you tell me your plan B, where did

         11  you get those funds from?

         12                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: We are doing

         13  whatever we can in terms of the next reauthorization

         14  bill as well. That's why I spent --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Which bill?

         16                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: The

         17  successor to ISTEA, the Intermodal Surface

         18  Transportation Efficiency Act of '91, which was

         19  reauthorized several times since then. I think that

         20  Chairman Obistar, who has the Transportation and

         21  Infrastructure Committee in the House has made it

         22  very, very clear to everyone, as have several

         23  members of the Senate, that they will do everything

         24  that they can to significantly increase the amount

         25  of federal funds that's been provided for the bridge
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          2  program, whether it's bridge capital or bridge

          3  maintenance. And, so, we're working with the House

          4  and Senate members to ensure that the next

          5  transportation bill includes adequate funding above

          6  and beyond what we get today for work on the 787

          7  bridges in New York City and the 2,000 bridges in

          8  New York State. And we believe that that is money

          9  well spent, and we will be making our case in

         10  Washington in the months to come.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: So, you're

         12  telling me the congestion pricing will not be a

         13  major factor for your funding, but the

         14  infrastructure of the bridge.

         15                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: We believe

         16  that, as I mentioned, I think I used the word

         17  "greedy" before, but as much money as we can get to

         18  spend on the rehabilitation of our infrastructure is

         19  key. So, we will be looking to anywhere we can get

         20  it. I think as you've seen, it's a challenge to

         21  ensure that we have the funding that we need for, we

         22  get what we need for funding the major

         23  infrastructure of the City of New York. That said,

         24  the Mayor has doubled in many cases the amount of

         25  money that we've spent on our infrastructure, and is
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          2  committed to ensuring that we go above and beyond

          3  what we've done over the past period of time to get

          4  to a state of good repair on all of the

          5  infrastructure in New York City.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: And that's not

          7  just with the congestion pricing fund, okay. Thank

          8  you. Just checking.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Council

         10  Member Mealy.

         11                 Commissioner, you mentioned before

         12  bridges that will last for another hundred years.

         13  Was that just a figurative statement, or are there

         14  actually bridges in New York City you expect to last

         15  for another 100 years?

         16                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: My point

         17  being that we're making the investments today,

         18  crucial investments today for the next generation,

         19  that will serve the next generation.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So that's 20 years?

         21  Well, the question then is, do we have an idea what

         22  the life expectancies are? The expected useful life

         23  expectancies of these bridges?

         24                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: We're going

         25  to keep repairing these bridges, you know, as long
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          2  as it takes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: The new bridge that

          4  was just installed, the Willis Avenue Bridge?

          5                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: We're just

          6  starting to contract for that, $612 million.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay, what about the

          8  Third Avenue Bridge; was that a new bridge that --

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PERAHIA: The

         10  Third Avenue Bridge was a replacement in kind. What

         11  we're saying is that these bridges --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, how long will

         13  the Third Avenue Bridge last? What do you expect it

         14  to -- how long do you expect it to last?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PERAHIA: The

         16  Third Avenue Bridge, I believe that the structure of

         17  that bridge will last about 40, 50, 50 years, the

         18  mechanical components, about 2025.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: That's like the

         20  Minneapolis Bridge. That was expected to last 50

         21  years, when it was built in '67.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PERAHIA: So was

         23  the Brooklyn Bridge.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: All right. So, the

         25  Brooklyn Bridge, is it on like some kind of -- I

                                                            80

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  don't want to say it, but is the Brooklyn Bridge

          3  past its original expected life expectancy? Well

          4  past it?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PERAHIA: Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well past it? I

          7  guess you're saying that that's probably true for

          8  most of the major bridges in the City?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PERAHIA: That's

         10  why we spent over $4 billion -- $3 billion on the

         11  rehabilitation --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: What is that

         13  expected useful life expectancy mean? Does that mean

         14  if we never maintain or repair the bridge?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PERAHIA: The

         16  expected useful life for the purpose of selling

         17  bonds.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: That's really used

         19  for the purposes of selling bonds, not to determine

         20  some kind of a capital construction schedule whereby

         21  bridges have to actually be replaced?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PERAHIA: It's a

         23  capital reconstruction schedule, but what we're

         24  saying is with capital reconstruction, like the East

         25  River Bridges, when a component becomes defective, a
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          2  component reaches the end of its useful life, we can

          3  keep replacing that component so that the bridge

          4  itself will continue to stand way beyond that

          5  30-year expectancy, or that 40-year expectancy.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay, I think we'll

          7  ask our friends from the State some of these

          8  questions as well.

          9                 Commissioner, thank you very much,

         10  and thank you, Mr. Perahia for joining us today, and

         11  I want to thank the indulgence of my colleagues here

         12  in this hearing.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 COMMISSIONER SADIK-KHAN: Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Now we'd like to

         16  call up our distinguished officials from the New

         17  York State Department of Transportation, Stanley

         18  Gee, Douglas Currey and George Christian.

         19                 Good afternoon, gentlemen. Thank you

         20  very much for joining us, and for your patience

         21  today. Please proceed when you're ready.

         22                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE:

         23  Good afternoon, Mr. Chairman, Council members, and

         24  thank you for the invitation to participate in this

         25  important hearing regarding bridge safety in New
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          2  York City. My name is Stanley Gee, I am the

          3  Executive Deputy Commissioner of the New York State

          4  Department of Transportation. And I look forward to

          5  discussing the Department's comprehensive bridge

          6  inspection and safety assurance program with you.

          7                 I am joined today by Douglas Currey

          8  on my left, on my left. For the past seven years Mr.

          9  Currey has been the regional director for the New

         10  York City region. Also with me today is George

         11  Christian, our Director of the Office of Structures.

         12  Mr. Christian has 35 years of extensive experience

         13  in bridge design, construction, and evaluation. He

         14  is a nationally known expert and serves on the

         15  American Association of State Highway and

         16  Transportation Officials Subcommittee on Bridges and

         17  Structures.

         18                 In response to the tragic collapse of

         19  the I-35W Bridge in Minneapolis on August 1, 2007,

         20  Governor Spitzer established a State Bridge Task

         21  Force comprised of participants from the New York

         22  State Department of Transportation, New York State

         23  Thruway Authority, the New York State Bridge

         24  Authority, and the Metropolitan Transportation

         25  Authority.
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          2                 The Task Force, which I chair, was

          3  directed to determine whether bridges in New York

          4  State of similar design and type as the I-35W Bridge

          5  continue to be safe for use.

          6                 To review the State's Bridge

          7  Inspection Standards and Procedures and to report

          8  back to the Governor in 30 days. Minneapolis's I-35W

          9  Bridge was a deck truss highway bridge. There are 49

         10  deck truss highway bridges in New York State, eight

         11  of which are located within New York City.

         12                 At the Governor's direction all of

         13  these bridges were visually inspected by August

         14  31st, more detailed follow-up inspections will be

         15  done by November 1, 2007. The Task Force has

         16  coordinated its activities with the New York City

         17  Department of Transportation. When it was learned

         18  that the I-35W Bridge was under construction before

         19  collapsing, Task Force member agencies issued

         20  instructions to their construction staffs and

         21  contractors reminding them to prohibit stockpiling

         22  materials and parking unused equipment on bridges in

         23  order for it to prevent overloading during

         24  construction.

         25                 Last Monday, September 10th, the Task
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          2  Force released its initial report to the Governor

          3  which verified that the deck truss bridges in New

          4  York State remain safe for travel by the public.

          5                 The Task Force has also demonstrated

          6  that the bridge inspection protocols used in New

          7  York are appropriate and are effective.

          8                 The visual inspections preceded by a

          9  review of all bridge inspection files, and that

         10  detailed inspections completed to date have found

         11  that these bridges are generally structurally sound

         12  with no serious problems.

         13                 Five of these bridges have some

         14  structural issues requiring further investigation

         15  and one requires remedial action within six weeks.

         16  None were in New York City.

         17                 The Task Force report is available on

         18  a new Department website which was developed in

         19  response to heightened public interest following the

         20  Minneapolis bridge collapse.

         21                 The website,

         22  www.nysdot.gov/bridgedata, describes the Bridge

         23  Inspection Program and provides condition

         24  information on all the more than 17,000 bridges in

         25  the State.
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          2                 The task force will issue another

          3  report in November summarizing the condition of New

          4  York's 49 deck truss bridges. Based upon the results

          5  of the detail inspections currently underway.

          6                 The Department is responsible for

          7  ensuring that all of the highway bridges in the

          8  State are inspected as required under federal

          9  regulations and State law. The Department's

         10  inspection program exceeds federal requirements and

         11  consistently receives high marks in annual federal

         12  highway administration management reviews.

         13                 All publicly owned highway bridges

         14  receive a general inspection at least once every two

         15  years. In addition, New York is one of only a few

         16  states in the nation that requires bridge inspection

         17  teams to be led by licensed professional engineers

         18  who have undergone specific training.

         19                 Bridges that meet certain condition

         20  deficiency criteria or are posted for limited truck

         21  weights are inspected annually.

         22                 Of the more than 17,000 highway

         23  bridges in New York State, 44 percent are owned by

         24  the State, 50 percent by municipalities, and the

         25  rest by authorities, commissions and railroads. The
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          2  Department inspects the 94 percent of the highway

          3  bridges in the State that are either state or

          4  municipally owned using its own workforce and

          5  consultants.

          6                 Total authorities and commissions are

          7  responsible for their own inspections and are

          8  required to submit their inspection data to the

          9  Department.

         10                 In New York City, New York State

         11  inspects 1,395 bridges, with 676 owned by the State

         12  and 719 owned by the City. In a typical year, about

         13  70 two-person teams conduct inspections on

         14  approximately 9,500 State and local-government-owned

         15  bridges throughout the State.

         16                 Underwater inspections are conducted

         17  by another nine teams each year. Nineteen consultant

         18  teams inspect the 1,400 State and City-owned bridges

         19  in New York City at an annual cost of $10 million.

         20                 The bridges in the City are among the

         21  largest in the State, as well as some of the most

         22  structurally and logistically complex. Inspections

         23  of New York City bridges are subject to traffic

         24  access restrictions and must be conducted during

         25  off-peak hours including at night. In addition, ten
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          2  consultant teams are required to inspect the four

          3  major East River Bridges every two years at a cost

          4  of more than five and a half million dollars.

          5                 In New York State, Bridge inspectors

          6  assess all of a bridge's individual components. They

          7  are required to evaluate, assign a condition score

          8  and document a condition of up to 47 structural

          9  elements, including 25 components of each individual

         10  bridge span.

         11                 They also rate 22 general components

         12  common to all bridges and bridge approaches. For

         13  certain critical structural elements, special

         14  hands-on inspections are required. To evaluate and

         15  report on the structural condition of bridges, the

         16  Department uses a numerical condition rating scale

         17  which ranges from one to seven.

         18                 A rating of five or greater is

         19  considered good condition with seven indicating a

         20  bridge in new condition. The State Bridge Inspection

         21  Program, one of the most more rigorous in the

         22  country, is designed to identify problems and

         23  address them before a bridge becomes unsafe.

         24                 This is an established procedure for

         25  responding to the inspection findings by reporting
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          2  conditions requiring timely attention regarding a

          3  potential unsafe condition, and by increasing the

          4  inspection frequency. Any bridge deemed to be unsafe

          5  is immediately closed.

          6                 In addition to subjecting all bridges

          7  to regular condition inspections, the State analyzes

          8  all bridges for their capacity to carry vehicular

          9  loads. Critical measurements needed to support these

         10  analogies are recorded during bridge inspections.

         11  Bridges that cannot safely carry heavy vehicles,

         12  such as traffic trailers, are posted with weight

         13  limits. Bridges that cannot carry adequate loads are

         14  closed to traffic.

         15                 The requirements of the State's

         16  Graber Law go beyond inspection-driven actions to a

         17  proactive approach to bridge safety, based upon the

         18  identification of vulnerabilities related to the

         19  design of the bridge, the component materials,

         20  traffic loads, seismic and hydraulic conditions, or

         21  any other factors that might cause a bridge failure.

         22  As an example, an example is the seismic

         23  vulnerability assessment of 450 bridges on various

         24  emergency routes in New York City.

         25                 Under the Graber Law, the Department
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          2  is required to submit to the Governor and

          3  Legislature an annual report on the status of our

          4  bridge management and inspection programs.

          5                 Bridge condition information is used

          6  to establish preventative and corrective maintenance

          7  programs, as well as bridge rehabilitation and

          8  replacement programs.

          9                 It is also used to help measure

         10  program performance.

         11                 The total population of 1,400 highway

         12  bridges in New York City represents about eight

         13  percent of all highway bridges in the State, yet

         14  comprises nearly one-third of the State's total

         15  highway bridge deck or surface area. As a

         16  population, 56 percent of the highway bridges in New

         17  York City are classified as deficient by the State

         18  condition rating system, as compared to 35 percent

         19  statewide.

         20                 Part of the reason bridge conditions

         21  are found to be worse in New York City when compared

         22  to the statewide average is because of the way

         23  condition ratings are determined. If a bridge has

         24  multiple spans, each element common to the spans is

         25  rated and the lowest individual span element rating
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          2  is used to determine the bridge's overall condition.

          3  As a result, large and multi-span bridges tend to

          4  get lower conditions scores.

          5                 A deficient condition rating

          6  indicates the deterioration at a level that requires

          7  corrective maintenance or rehabilitation to restore

          8  the bridge to its fully functional non-deficient

          9  condition. It does not mean the bridge is unsafe.

         10                 The federal rating system which

         11  measures average conditions for the entire bridge

         12  regardless of the bridge size or complexity shows

         13  about 11 percent in New York City -- 11 percent of

         14  bridges in New York City are classified as

         15  structurally deficient, slightly below the statewide

         16  and national average of 12 percent.

         17                 A structurally deficient rating on

         18  the federal system makes a bridge a candidate for

         19  major rehabilitation or replacement. The federal

         20  system also includes a functionally obsolete

         21  designation which refers to the bridge's inability

         22  to meet contemporary standards for managing the

         23  volume the traffic carries or its geometric design,

         24  not to its structural integrity. In New York City,

         25  65 percent of the highway bridges are classified as
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          2  functionally obsolete, compared to 26 percent

          3  statewide. This high population can be attributed to

          4  the age and substandard geometrics of the New York

          5  City bridge population, combined with the high

          6  traffic demands.

          7                 The Department has spent an average

          8  of approximately $750 million annually on bridge

          9  improvement and maintenance during the past five

         10  years. This includes bridge replacement,

         11  rehabilitation, design, construction inspection,

         12  maintenance activities, safety inspection and safety

         13  assurance.

         14                 Of that amount approximately 45

         15  percent, $340 million, is spent on bridges in New

         16  York City.

         17                 As required by the recent congestion

         18  pricing legislation and as part of the development

         19  of next year's executive budget for the State, the

         20  Department is undertaking a comprehensive review of

         21  highway and bridge capital requirements and funding

         22  needs. Bridge and highway safety improvement needs

         23  in New York City will be a significant factor in the

         24  new capital plan.

         25                 This effort could also include an
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          2  enhanced bridge and maintenance program aimed at

          3  keeping critical bridge elements from deteriorating

          4  further, thereby slowing the rate bridges become

          5  deficient. The Department will share ore of these

          6  details of this effort in the Task Force's next

          7  report to the Governor.

          8                 The Minneapolis bridge collapse was a

          9  sobering reminder to agencies charged with

         10  stewardship of the State's bridges that these

         11  structures are critically important to commerce and

         12  public safety. Managing them is serious business,

         13  which requires vigilance, foresight and significant

         14  attention and funding to ensure that these bridges

         15  continue to safely serve the traveling public.

         16                 Thank you very much for providing me

         17  with the opportunity to discuss New York State's

         18  bridge inspection and safety assurance efforts.

         19                 I hope this information presented to

         20  you this afternoon is helpful in your deliberations.

         21                 I will be happy to answer your

         22  questions.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well, thank you,

         24  Commissioner Gee, and your colleagues, for appearing

         25  before our panel today.
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          2                 Let me start by saying that I really

          3  appreciate your testimony, but it stands in stark

          4  contrast to what we've heard from the City DOT. I

          5  was feeling really good about 20 minutes ago, and

          6  then this is not a reflection of your testimony and

          7  your candor but what you're telling us today raises

          8  a lot more questions and concerns than what the City

          9  DOT gave us just a little while earlier. Sixty-five

         10  percent of New York City's highway bridges are

         11  classified as functionally obsolete. Fifty-six

         12  percent of the City's bridges are considered

         13  deficient. And those are not words that make people

         14  comfortable. And that is certainly not your job to

         15  make people comfortable. Your job is to make sure

         16  that our structures are safe, and I commend you for

         17  doing that.

         18                 I have several questions for you.

         19  First, I just want to clarify what it is that --

         20  what a span is, because the City Commissioner talked

         21  about spans, you have talked about spans. In fact,

         22  you have talked about the fact that the bridges in

         23  New York City are generally longer and larger,

         24  therefore, they have many spans.

         25                 My understanding of a span is that
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          2  it's a section of a bridge. So, for example, the

          3  Brooklyn Bridge is not technically one bridge, but

          4  it's technically 75 bridges linked together; would

          5  that be a fair characterization of what a span is?

          6                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE:

          7  Yes. I think the Brooklyn Bridge is known as the

          8  Brooklyn Bridge, but it's composed of 75 spans or

          9  segments.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Right.

         11                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE:

         12  And it's also classified as a deck truss bridge, but

         13  most people think of the Brooklyn Bridge as a

         14  suspension bridge. And the way it's defined for

         15  purposes of our evaluation, we've tried to compare

         16  similar spans, similar bridges and what happened to

         17  the bridge in Minnesota, that was a deck truss

         18  bridge. And just to define what that is, a truss, as

         19  you can probably imagine, is a bridge with

         20  structural steel members that had vertical,

         21  horizontal and diagonal components, and a deck truss

         22  bridge is a truss with the deck or the surface of

         23  the bridge that you ride on is above the truss.

         24                 Most truss bridges you probably are

         25  familiar with have truss elements, those horizontal,
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          2  vertical and diagonal members on the sides and over

          3  the riding surface. So, deck trusses are underneath

          4  the riding surface. They're a small population but

          5  that's how it's defined.

          6                 Now, on the Brooklyn Bridge, the

          7  approach is to the main suspension components of the

          8  Brooklyn Bridge, there are some elements that are

          9  deck trusses, whereas the trusses are underneath the

         10  driving surface. But we looked at those in

         11  particular.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I bring up the span

         13  because part of your testimony talks about -- well,

         14  it says, "part of the reason bridge conditions are

         15  found to be worse in New York City when compared to

         16  the Statewide average is because of the fact that

         17  more bridges in New York City have more spans within

         18  the bridge. That's essentially what you're saying.

         19                 But I just want to make sure that my

         20  understanding is correct. If one of those spans

         21  fails, that means someone going over the bridge

         22  might wind up in the river; is that true or not

         23  true?

         24                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE:

         25  Right.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, it doesn't

          3  matter how many spans there are. It means that

          4  whether a bridge has two spans or 75 spans, if one

          5  of those spans fails, then --

          6                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE:

          7  Yes. If one of those spans fails, it could be

          8  catastrophic.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Right. That's why

         10  what I'm suggesting is that it's not, like we don't

         11  want to get into a numbers game where we're

         12  justifying or explaining why more bridges in New

         13  York City are deficient, because they tend to have

         14  many more spans. It's still one bridge.

         15                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE:

         16  Right.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And it's still a

         18  bridge that people have to go over all those spans

         19  to get from one side of the bridge to the other side

         20  of the bridge.

         21                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE:

         22  Let me try to put it in context. You are correct. I

         23  think what we're trying to tell you is, is that

         24  bridges deserve attention. The number of spans are

         25  important in the way we inspect bridges. We want to
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          2  assure you that our system inspects every span,

          3  every structural component within every span,

          4  because of the increased number of spans, as the

          5  Commissioner Sadik-Khan mentioned, one particular

          6  span could dictate the rating of the overall bridge.

          7                 So, the key point is that the span

          8  does not go to collapse, and that requires our

          9  attention, the City's attention, and we are spending

         10  the effort to assure that that won't happen.

         11                 I would say another reason why there

         12  are -- I'll use the four East River crossings to

         13  highlight my example, these are major structures

         14  that are not easily replaced. There is no question

         15  about what the design life of the bridges are, we

         16  have four major structures, they're not easily

         17  replaced. That's why they not only carry vehicles,

         18  they carry pedestrians in the subway, so it is

         19  critically important for us to ensure those bridges

         20  are safe and they continue to operate because

         21  they're almost irreplaceable, and that's why we

         22  spend a lot of attention, a lot of effort and time

         23  to ensure maintenance is conducted and to keep those

         24  bridges functioning.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And that's why, I
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          2  will say again, I appreciate your candor and your

          3  testimony, because it does highlight the need for

          4  more work, and therefore more resources to making

          5  sure that our bridge structures are structurally

          6  sound and safe for the public to use.

          7                 Now, in New York State you testified

          8  there are 17,000 bridges.

          9                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE:

         10  Yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And we have this

         12  regular review process where every bridge is

         13  inspected every two years. That's my understanding?

         14                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE:

         15  Yes, at least every two years.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, now after a

         17  bridge fails in Minnesota, and we're concerned here

         18  in New York because some of our bridges have the

         19  same kinds of federal ratings, as well as structure,

         20  that we then embark upon an intensive review. Now,

         21  was that intensive review necessary? Does that point

         22  to possible changes in the regular two-year review

         23  cycle that the State already conducts?

         24                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE: I

         25  think our conclusion has been that the program that
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          2  we have in place in New York, inspection protocols

          3  and the procedures we have are adequate to the task,

          4  and we do inspect bridges that have problems on more

          5  frequently than every two years, but two years is a

          6  minimum level of inspection.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, when bridges are

          8  inspected more often than every two years, does it

          9  have to do with the condition of the bridge? Does it

         10  have to do with the usage of that bridge? How many

         11  people use it, a combination of both? What

         12  determines the fact that a bridge would be inspected

         13  more often than the two-year standard?

         14                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE:

         15  I'll answer that in general and I'll let our Chief

         16  Bridge Engineer answer that.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Sure.

         18                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE:

         19  Sure.

         20                 Typically when we find something that

         21  calls our attention, and through the inspection

         22  program, either via our load rating system that we

         23  do the analysis for the information we found, or we

         24  find a deficiency that warrants immediate attention,

         25  to ensure that deficiency is corrected, we do a more
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          2  frequent inspection.

          3                 George.

          4                 MR. CHRISTIAN: Really three reasons.

          5  One of them is general condition. If the bridge gets

          6  a score low enough, it will go onto the next

          7  inspection program.

          8                 The second thing is load capacity

          9  restriction. Any bridge that needs to be posted for

         10  a restricted load, now that bridge could be in

         11  perfect condition, but if it was built in 1900 and

         12  never designed for trucks, and is posted for five

         13  tons, that bridge will get inspected every year.

         14                 And the third thing has to do with

         15  our flagging process, and this is the procedure

         16  where the inspector identifies what could be

         17  potential problems that really need some attention,

         18  and we have different levels of flags, we have a red

         19  and a yellow. Anything that gets a yellow flag, it

         20  kind of puts the bridge on watch, at a minimum. I

         21  mean, we'd like them to have it get fixed within the

         22  year, but if it doesn't, we'll inspect it on an

         23  annual basis.

         24                 A red flag has to get fixed. It's a

         25  much different requirement.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Just from listening

          3  right now, I would assume that if you think a bridge

          4  needs to get fixed within the year, and it's not

          5  fixed within the year, that the follow-up inspection

          6  should actually be more frequent than annual.

          7                 MR. CHRISTIAN: Well, again, the way

          8  we define what the flag is, we believe it can go a

          9  year. So, if it's worse than that, it would get a

         10  higher classification of flag.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, of the 17,000

         12  bridges in New York, over the last month with the

         13  report given to Governor Spitzer, there were really

         14  only 49 bridges, the truss bridges that were taken a

         15  look at.

         16                 Because there's some perception out

         17  there that all the State's bridges have been looked

         18  at, but, in fact, it's only 49 out of 17,000?

         19                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE:

         20  Our Bridge inspection program is continuous. There

         21  are 17,000 bridges, they're not done all at once.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.

         23                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE:

         24  Okay.

         25                 So, we do roughly half of them a
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          2  year. So, half of those bridges were being

          3  inspected, including some of the 49 deck trusses

          4  that were identified as -- but for the deck trusses,

          5  because of what happened in Minnesota, we

          6  accelerated the inspections that would be normally

          7  done within this 30-day period, okay? And we have

          8  also accelerated more detailed inspection also on

          9  those non-redundant elements within those bridges.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, what happened in

         11  Minnesota spurred the acceleration and perhaps a

         12  more thorough, the acceleration of a review and

         13  perhaps a more thorough review of the 49 deck truss

         14  bridges in New York. Now, what happened -- do we

         15  wait for something to happen to another type of

         16  bridge before we then look at that type of bridge in

         17  New York? Or is there something special about deck

         18  truss bridges, apart from the fact that it was

         19  involved in this tragic collapse in Minnesota, that

         20  allows the State DOT to reasonably determine that,

         21  well, an immediate review of the deck truss bridges,

         22  and deck truss bridges only is warranted at this

         23  time?

         24                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE:

         25  I'll answer this in a general way. I think the
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          2  concern because of what happened in Minnesota and

          3  the collapse there, the fatalities involved,

          4  warranted some additional attention to similar type

          5  bridges and we've taken that.

          6                 I think our efforts with regard to

          7  the 49 bridges points out to us that the procedures

          8  we have in place for the entire population of

          9  bridges is adequate to the task. And that was, I

         10  think, pointed out when we did the accelerated and

         11  the additional inspections of the 49 deck truss.  We

         12  found some problems, but these are problems that we

         13  would have found during the normal course of an

         14  inspection.

         15                 There wasn't anything, I would say,

         16  unexpected or to the point that we would change our

         17  inspection procedure to -- I'll just leave it at

         18  that.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Would you then say

         20  that this special 30-day review of the deck truss

         21  bridges was even necessary?

         22                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE:

         23  Well, I think it was necessary to assure the public

         24  and the community and New York City that what we

         25  have in place is safe, to assure that the people
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          2  that use these every day that the bridges are safe,

          3  that we have a program in place to assure that

          4  they're safe, and we have a maintenance and capital

          5  program in place to continue their useful lives.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay. That's fine. I

          7  mean, to assure the public, that's why this

          8  accelerated review was done. But it was, of course,

          9  done only on the 49 deck truss bridges out of the

         10  17,000 in New York State.

         11                 You know, a number of years, actually

         12  decades ago, a famous bridge in Washington State

         13  just literally ripped apart, the Tacoma Narrows

         14  Bridge.

         15                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE:

         16  Yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And after the Tacoma

         18  Narrows Bridge just totally disintegrated before

         19  people's very eyes, there were actions taken in New

         20  York to assess how vulnerable some of our suspension

         21  bridges could be, such as the Whitestone Bridge. Are

         22  those actions that were instituted after the total

         23  collapse of the Tacoma Narrows Bridge fully

         24  implemented here in New York?

         25                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE:
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          2  Yes. I think every time some major event happens

          3  that we learn something from and can improve, we do

          4  that. And we incorporate those methodologies, review

          5  analyses, into what we do now.

          6                 In New York State, I mentioned the

          7  Graber Law that was passed after the collapse of the

          8  Schoharie Creek Bridge on the New York State Thruway

          9  back in 1987, and that pointed to the need to do

         10  underwater inspections.

         11                 So, I think we will learn, when the

         12  cause of the Minnesota Bridge collapse is known,

         13  we'll probably learn from that, and there are things

         14  we probably could improve on. Right now we're doing

         15  what we can, from what we know, to assure the public

         16  that bridges that they travel on day in and day out

         17  are safe.

         18                 I think we've looked at everything.

         19  We've used this example to look at our system and we

         20  believe our systems are adequate to the test.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay. And just one

         22  more set of questions and then we have questions

         23  from some of our Committee members here.

         24                 Shortly after the Minneapolis Bridge

         25  collapsed, the officials from the State Department
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          2  of Transportation were out there saying that all of

          3  New York's bridges are safe, and none of them were

          4  structurally deficient. That's what our reports

          5  have, whereas, federal officials were saying that at

          6  least three of New York's bridges are considered

          7  structurally deficient.

          8                 Do our accounts, are there mistakes

          9  in our accounts?

         10                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE:

         11  No. I think, again, it might have been in

         12  terminology. My testimony says that the State of New

         13  York, we are about 12 percent of our bridges are

         14  classified as structurally deficient, and I don't

         15  think we've deviated from that. It might be a

         16  semantics term, but we're basically at the national

         17  average, 12 percent structurally deficient under the

         18  federal classification, that's over 2,000 bridges.

         19  But again structurally deficient does not mean

         20  unsafe. Structurally deficient means there are

         21  elements of that bridge that if failing, if failed

         22  could present unsafe condition, those are the

         23  bridges that are ones that we look closely at. We

         24  have programs in place for those bridges, for either

         25  accelerating maintenance. Some corrective action
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          2  needs to be in place. Either maintenance activities,

          3  or reconstruction, and individual bridges have

          4  individual treatments.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, while a bridge

          6  is considered structurally deficient, it may still

          7  be safe.

          8                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE:

          9  Yes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: But it does allow

         11  you to determine that more money is necessary to

         12  make the repairs as quickly as possible.

         13                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE: I

         14  think the easiest way to do it, at the federal level

         15  they use that terminology as a way to determine the

         16  eligibility for their highway bridge funds. For

         17  bridge rehabilitation or replacement, it has to be

         18  classified structurally deficient in order to be

         19  eligible for those finite set of funds.

         20                 We have a different classification

         21  here that addresses the condition that needs to be

         22  addressed, or classified as according to what needs

         23  to be repaired. We have a different classification

         24  and it's generally a higher, we use the word

         25  deficient, and you picked up in my testimony the
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          2  higher number. I'll respond by saying that the

          3  higher number, because as you indicated, there is

          4  more spans here, generally the bridges are older,

          5  so, either maintenance needs to be kept up or

          6  replacement needs to be done and there is just a

          7  higher number of those bridges that we need to focus

          8  attention on.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Let me come back to

         10  you in a few minutes.

         11                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE:

         12  Okay.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: We have questions

         14  from Council Member Ignizio.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER IGNIZIO: Yes, thank

         16  you very much. And let me just start by saying that

         17  I have the utmost respect and faith in the agency.

         18  Doug and Charlie Shea I've worked with for quite

         19  some time. Just I'm going to try to convey or

         20  reconvey my colleagues' assessment. The public,

         21  which was said to be assured by this new Task Force,

         22  is not assured when they hear words like "poor," or

         23  "functionally obsolete," or "structurally

         24  deficient." That doesn't assure them. And what I

         25  think potentially needs to go on is there needs to
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          2  be internal language and external language. An

          3  internal language within the agencies with talking

          4  to the government, talking to the feds in Washington

          5  and whatnot and what is conveyed externally would be

          6  a grading scale of A, B, C, D, E, F, or one out of a

          7  hundred, something that when my constituents go on

          8  the website, or anybody's constituents go on they

          9  say, okay, it's, you know, no bridge is perfect, but

         10  we're at, you know, 75 percent, we're doing pretty

         11  well.

         12                 When I was a little boy, if I went

         13  home and I said, mom, I did poor. She's not going to

         14  say, oh, great, okay, keep it up, you're doing

         15  great. No. She's going to say you need to do

         16  something right now. You need to study harder, you

         17  need to work.

         18                 So, I just think the semantics, I

         19  think that was the word you used, the semantics are

         20  not assuring the public, they're working against

         21  what was the original intent of the task force. And

         22  I would ask that your agency in conjunction with the

         23  other agencies just look at that. Not from an

         24  engineer, I recognize we all have our internal

         25  jargon, but the external jargon I think is a very
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          2  easy fix.

          3                 The final thing I just wanted to say

          4  is, and not solely by you, but three times now I've

          5  heard the undertones of congestion pricing. And I

          6  think it is very dangerous for this body to accept

          7  language like without congestion pricing your

          8  bridges will fail. It's inappropriate, it's wrong,

          9  and it shouldn't be spoken. I'm not directing these

         10  comments at you. I'm directing these comments at

         11  this overall meeting and the City at large, that it

         12  is wrong to put forward that our bridges may be

         13  unsafe, if not for requiring additional tax on our

         14  taxpayers. That is within the budget that we find

         15  money to make sure our bridges are up to speed. It

         16  is the function of government to keep its people

         17  safe and without an additional tax. We pay enough

         18  taxes as it is. That debate should be held a

         19  different day amongst a different context, not the

         20  context of having safe bridges or not.

         21                 Thank you very much.

         22                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE:

         23  Can I respond generally? Council Member, I

         24  appreciate your comments. I don't want to get into

         25  jargon.
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          2                 I think we wanted to note that

          3  whatever terms we've used "poor," or "deficient,"

          4  means that the bridges need attention and need work.

          5  But I want to stress again, they're not unsafe.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER IGNIZIO: I understand

          7  that.

          8                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE:

          9  Okay. When we have a definition, just like you've

         10  described, "poor," it's not new. Our rating system

         11  starts with seven. That's a new bridge. So, when you

         12  have a population of older bridges, it is going to

         13  come down because it deteriorates over time. But

         14  they need attention. As long as they have attention

         15  they will be safe. And I guess my general point is

         16  that if it has a classification as deficient or

         17  poor, that means we have to pay attention to it and

         18  it's our responsibility as government officials, as

         19  you point out, to make sure that we have the

         20  resources in the building to maintain their safety

         21  for the public that uses them. And we have pledged

         22  to do that.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER IGNIZIO: Yes, sir. And

         24  in no way don't -- appreciate what I'm conveying to

         25  you, which is I feel, I recognize you're doing your
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          2  job. I recognize this is the scale you have with

          3  which to work for, I just mean the external

          4  communication to the average guy who jumps on a

          5  website or passes around the neighborhood that, in

          6  my case, the Outer Bridge or the Goethals Bridge is

          7  poor. You know, so immediately Alan gets calls or I

          8  get calls, what do you mean the bridge in my

          9  neighborhood is poor?

         10                 While I appreciate that it's an

         11  internal language, I think inferring externally to

         12  the public at large would be better served with

         13  language that is more understandable by the general

         14  population.

         15                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE: I

         16  appreciate that. Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Council

         18  Member Ignizio.

         19                 Council Member Addabbo.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you,

         21  Mr. Chair, and I'll be brief.

         22                 Commissioner, thank you very much for

         23  your time and the panel's time today as well.

         24                 Your relationship with the New York

         25  City DOT is critical in this issue, so my concern is
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          2  that.

          3                 Do you feel that your relationship

          4  and working in cooperation with the New York City

          5  DOT is adequate, or is there room for improvement in

          6  the near future, as we go forward in this issue?

          7                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE:

          8  Well, I am pleased with the cooperation we have with

          9  the City. Even though this was a State Task Force,

         10  because of our working relationship they were

         11  included in all meetings, all correspondence. So, we

         12  have a continual relationship with the City DOT, and

         13  I think like anything else, it can always be

         14  improved.

         15                 I take the Council member's

         16  suggestion at heart about improving how we convey

         17  the safety of the bridges to the public. We'll look

         18  at that. But we have a good working relationship

         19  with Commissioner Sadik-Khan and her Department.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: I am pleased

         21  to hear that. And, again, if there is any

         22  suggestions on how to improve that, if we can have

         23  that related from you, we greatly appreciate it.

         24  Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Council
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          2  Member Addabbo.

          3                 Council Member Mealy.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: It's really the

          5  same sentiments as my colleague. Because I know I

          6  sat here and asked earlier the New York City DOT, is

          7  it overlapping investigations between Bridges,

          8  between DOT and New York State DOT, and they said

          9  no. And here it is, we sit here now, I thought you

         10  all had the same criteria, good, bad, and now you're

         11  telling me right here now that the bridge is just

         12  deficient. And my same sentiments, it has to be

         13  across the board.

         14                 How can people be comfortable and

         15  clear if DOT is saying one thing, New York, and the

         16  State is saying a different thing in regards to the

         17  bridges? Some people have phobias of going over

         18  bridges, and if they would hear that a bridge is in

         19  poor condition, they may not want to ride over the

         20  bridge. But if they hear a good condition, they

         21  will. But then here it is, if they hear from New

         22  York State saying that the bridge is deficient, it's

         23  sending out a bad message, and it has to be a

         24  nationalized set program or average on saying good,

         25  bad, same way as my colleague said.
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          2                 And other thing I was thinking of,

          3  this statement. I know the State has not had a

          4  congestion pricing, and here it is in your

          5  statement, your testimony, it's the same thing with

          6  congestion pricing.

          7                 And it should not be put before us

          8  right now because we haven't voted on it, and that's

          9  like, we're putting the horse before the cart. So, I

         10  really disapprove about hearing of the congestion

         11  pricing as of now in these testimonies.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE: I

         14  appreciate what you said, and I thank you for

         15  reminding me about the congestion pricing referenced

         16  in my testimony. The State congestion pricing

         17  legislation that was passed named the Commission,

         18  also requires the Department, my Department to

         19  submit a report to that commission. It also requires

         20  us to submit a report to the Legislature on the

         21  capital needs of the highways and bridges in the

         22  State. It has nothing to do with what's proposed in

         23  the City, but the legislation now authorized the

         24  creation of a commission, also directed the

         25  Department to submit a report. That's what's in my
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          2  testimony. The report that we're required to submit

          3  March 30th this year, of 2008.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

          6                 Thank you, Council Member Mealy. And

          7  then questions from Council Member Gerson.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you,

          9  again, Mr. Chair.

         10                 Good afternoon. Does the State of New

         11  York set forth recommended standards for

         12  preventative maintenance, for daily maintenance,

         13  which the City and other municipalities are advised

         14  to follow, how frequently the bridge should be

         15  oiled, how frequently it should be de-iced, how much

         16  personnel should be assigned to maintenance of there

         17  structures? Is there any set of recommendations

         18  dealing with the nitty-gritty preventative and daily

         19  maintenance?

         20                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE: I

         21  know at a national level we're looking at that with

         22  other states. We have what we would call, I would

         23  say best practices for preventive maintenance. There

         24  are certain routine things that you would do, that

         25  are good practice and I'm sure it's done in New York
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          2  City. I'll use the example, when you have a vehicle

          3  you change the oil periodically, right?

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I was just

          5  thinking of that.

          6                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE:

          7  Well, we do something like that where we

          8  periodically, you know, lubricate the bearings on

          9  bridges, or actually wash them.

         10                 I think one of the critical things

         11  mentioned earlier, Williamsburg Bridge, I believe,

         12  about some of the practices to allow it to get to

         13  disrepair, and a large amount of money went to

         14  rehabilitation.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: When we were

         16  all kids.

         17                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE:

         18  Excuse me?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: When we were

         20  all kids.

         21                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE:

         22  Yes.

         23                 And a lot of the things we've

         24  learned, in response to the Chairman's comment, is

         25  that we can do things now on a preventative
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          2  maintenance, like washing the bridge, washing the

          3  salt and the grime from the bridges, to allow them

          4  to function on an annual basis.

          5                 So, these are things that we've

          6  learned. We have what I call best practices, they're

          7  not standards per se but they are best practices

          8  that we do share now within New York City, but with

          9  other bridge owners.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And do you

         11  have sufficient information to assess whether or not

         12  the City of New York is living up to best practices

         13  with respect to our bridges?

         14                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE:

         15  We're cooperating with them. We don't work in an

         16  assessment room with them, I'll say, but we share

         17  our information.

         18                 More and more of this is, because

         19  it's not related so much to Minnesota, but I think

         20  in the last decade, because of the number of bridges

         21  that were built during the heyday of the interstate

         22  construction period, there are a number of bridges

         23  reaching its design life, there's more attention

         24  being paid to rehabilitation, preventative

         25  maintenance strategies to extend the life of these
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          2  bridges.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: That's great.

          4  And we want to make sure we're doing everything we

          5  can here in this City along those lines.

          6                 My very last point, just to go back

          7  to the issue raised by several of my colleagues, and

          8  myself earlier about the rating system vis-a-vis

          9  safety. And I understand and I agree with that

         10  point, you know, that any unsafe bridge should be

         11  closed. In that respect, either unsafe or safe. But

         12  we all recognize we live in a world of

         13  probabilities, even a bridge closed because it's

         14  deemed unsafe is still standing, it has not yet

         15  collapsed. So, we close it on the basis of

         16  probability and we don't get to that point unless

         17  there's a cataclysmic event, obviously, overnight,

         18  but over time as the probably of an unsafe incident

         19  changes.

         20                 So, my question to you, do we, as

         21  policy makers, as budget allocators, have access to

         22  some kind of rating system that tells us how far

         23  along the spectrum we are in the probability of an

         24  unsafe, you know, incident of a bridge collapse,

         25  Heaven forbid? This one to seven rating, is it a
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          2  reasonable inference that a bridge rated number two

          3  is less safe than a bridge rated number five; is

          4  that a fair inference?

          5                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE: I

          6  think a bridge rated two needs more attention than a

          7  bridge rated five, okay?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Attention from

          9  the standpoint of safety or --

         10                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE:

         11  No, attention for a point of what --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: You want to

         13  have aesthetic issues with bridges, you have

         14  potholes that don't necessarily, in my mind, carry

         15  over to structural safety, but may impact, you know,

         16  the feel of the ride over the bridge, may impact on

         17  the vehicle. There are other issues besides

         18  structural safety that I take may go into, you know,

         19  your assessment of the overall bridge. So, that's

         20  why, from a safety standpoint, again, on a

         21  comparative basis, recognizing it's still safe

         22  enough to ride open, are we getting closer to the

         23  unsafe point if it's rated two than if it's rated

         24  five or six?

         25                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE:
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          2  Generally, I would say yes.

          3                 The only thing what I would caution

          4  you is that you have to couple that with, if there

          5  is a bridge rated two, is there attention being paid

          6  to it? Is there attention being paid to, in terms of

          7  maintenance, or corrective action is taken, I would

          8  not --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Fair enough.

         10                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE:

         11  But that's what you need to look at in addition to

         12  the rating.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Okay. And my

         14  last question, what's the number on the Brooklyn

         15  Bridge?

         16                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE: I

         17  think it's less than three. It's less than three.

         18                 Again --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Two point

         20  something?

         21                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE:

         22  Excuse me?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Two point

         24  something?

         25                 MR. CHRISTIAN: 2.9 in a fraction.
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          2                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE:

          3  Yes.

          4                 MR. CHRISTIAN: Just a little below

          5  three.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you.

          7                 Thank you, Mr. Chair. Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Council

          9  Member Gerson.

         10                 So, but it's been 2.9 or whatever it

         11  is for an extended period of time, right? It's not

         12  like the State DOT just rated the Brooklyn Bridge at

         13  2.9 in the last month. Has that been a standing

         14  rating for quite some time now? How long has that

         15  rating been in effect for the Brooklyn Bridge?

         16                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE:

         17  It's the most current rating. I don't know offhand

         18  what the rating was before the last inspection.

         19                 Again, that number by itself is not

         20  indicative of the safety. I think there is work

         21  underway on the Brooklyn Bridge, and as I think

         22  Deputy Commissioner Perahia mentioned, on the

         23  Brooklyn Bridge, as far as the deck truss, the piece

         24  -- on some of the Minnesota there is work done, and

         25  that part of it is safe, so the element that
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          2  attributes it to its low rating is probably another

          3  approach span. I don't know directly. But the deck

          4  truss piece of it, as Deputy Commissioner Perahia

          5  mentioned, was I think reinforced.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Sure. I mean, in the

          7  days after the Minneapolis Bridge collapsed, even

          8  Mayor Bloomberg got up and talked about how it

          9  wasn't the main bridge, it was an approach towards

         10  the Brooklyn Bridge.

         11                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE:

         12  Yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: That caused the

         14  whole bridge to be labeled "structurally deficient."

         15                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE:

         16  Yes. My point is, though, that the work that was

         17  done on the bridge was done before that. So, the

         18  rating caused some action and that action was

         19  initiated.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, in other words,

         21  you're suggesting that it may not actually be at 2.9

         22  still?

         23                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE:

         24  Well, after all the work is done, it may get a

         25  different rating, next time we do our inspection.

                                                            124

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Didn't you just say

          3  the work has been done already.

          4                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE:

          5  The work on the deck trusses, but there is other

          6  work on the Brooklyn Bridge that is being scheduled.

          7  My understanding.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.

          9                 So, the part of the bridge, one of

         10  the trusses that is in the approach that caused it

         11  to be rated at 2.9, has that work been done yet? Or

         12  has that repair work been done?

         13                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE: I

         14  can't answer that. I don't know.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well, given that

         16  there was so much attention on deck truss bridges,

         17  attention on the Brooklyn Bridge, the Mayor coming

         18  out and kind of defending the State DOT saying that,

         19  well, it's not really the main bridge, if you fall,

         20  if you're on a car and you fall, you may only fall

         21  -- he didn't say this, but what it conjures in my

         22  mind is that rather than falling 100 feet to your

         23  death in the river, you might only fall 20 feet to

         24  your death on an approach.

         25                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE: I
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          2  understand what you're --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I would expect that

          4  at least we know what's been done over the last few

          5  weeks on the Brooklyn Bridge.

          6                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE:

          7  Yes. Let me just say that was one of the 49 bridges

          8  we did an immediate inspection on, okay? And it's

          9  safe. I'll say that again, it's safe.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Of course, because

         11  it's open. But as I said earlier, a bridge is safe

         12  until it's not safe. That's what has happened with

         13  every single bridge collapse that I think anybody

         14  can remember. A bridge is going to be deemed safe

         15  and the traffic and people are going to be on that

         16  bridge until it collapses, and then it's going to be

         17  considered unsafe and closed off.

         18                 And what we're trying to get an idea

         19  of is how much attention is being paid to ensuring

         20  the safety of these bridges, and if all the

         21  different agencies at different levels of government

         22  are really closely coordinating. And I was kind of

         23  like feeling okay until now we find that really, I

         24  mean, you know, no offense intended, but you

         25  gentlemen are responsible for bridge safety, and if
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          2  our committee asks what's been done on the Brooklyn

          3  Bridge over the last month and a half, I would think

          4  that you'd know right off the top of your heads.

          5                 MR. CHRISTIAN: I just want to try to

          6  answer your question a little bit better.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay, please. And

          8  tell me if I'm being unreasonable. Because I don't

          9  want to be unreasonable.

         10                 MR. CHRISTIAN: No, I understand what

         11  you're saying and you're making a good point.

         12                 But I think the first point you've

         13  got to make is, the number, the 2.9, that is a first

         14  screen. That tells us that there is something that

         15  needs to be looked at more closely with the bridge.

         16                 Now, you take the Brooklyn Bridge.

         17  It's got 75 spans, it's got, you know, each span has

         18  many components. They all get rated with a number

         19  and through the way we do a condition rating

         20  formula, which was explained a little by the City

         21  and a little by Commissioner Gee, you know, where we

         22  take the worst components from different spans and

         23  combine the worst, it's kind of a worst first thing.

         24  But it gives us the -- you know, it puts us on

         25  notice that we've got to look at this bridge closer.
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          2  And what happens is then, you know, the City in this

          3  case will go through that inspection report

          4  page-by-page, and everything that is rated below

          5  five, every component will have some description in

          6  the report, what's wrong with it, we'll take a

          7  picture of it, the engineers for the City could

          8  evaluate it, and decide what needs to be fixed and

          9  when it needs to be fixed and is it really critical?

         10                 I mean what happens --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Mr. Christian, my --

         12                 MR. CHRISTIAN: Yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: My simple -- I

         14  thought it was a pretty simple question, is really

         15  like, how long have you been on notice about the

         16  Brooklyn Bridge? That's what I asked. When you

         17  explained that to Council Member Gerson, well, it's

         18  slightly under three, like 2.9, my question was how

         19  long have we known that that's been the condition of

         20  the Brooklyn Bridge, and what's being done to

         21  address that?

         22                 Have we been put on notice over the

         23  last couple of months? Or has the State DOT been put

         24  on notice with that 2.9 rating for the last two

         25  years? What is it? How long has that condition
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          2  existed on the Brooklyn Bridge?

          3                 MR. CHRISTIAN: I don't know for sure.

          4  But I would imagine it's been there for awhile. I

          5  mean bridges condition ratings don't --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: In a couple of

          7  years?

          8                 MR. CHRISTIAN: Maybe a few years. I

          9  mean, there's been a lot of work going on on the

         10  bridge.

         11                 But you've got to look at the

         12  individual components and find out why is that --

         13  what's causing it to be a 2.9?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And as Commissioner

         15  Gee pointed out before, look at what work is being

         16  done to address the 2.9 situation.

         17                 MR. CHRISTIAN: Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Again, tell me if

         19  I'm being unreasonable, but you gentlemen, and we

         20  thank you for being here, but you're sitting here,

         21  you're in charge of bridge safety, this has been

         22  under the spotlight for a month and a half, I'm just

         23  asking how long has this notice been given to the

         24  State DOT that is a condition on the Brooklyn Bridge

         25  that needs to be fixed, and what actually is being
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          2  done? What's the plan? I'm drawing blanks on both

          3  accounts here.

          4                 MR. CHRISTIAN: Well, I can't speak to

          5  the Brooklyn Bridge, because we don't repair the

          6  Brooklyn Bridge, that's the City's bridge.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, the City is

          8  responsible for -- the Commissioner Sadik-Khan just

          9  testified that the City DOT only looks at pedestrian

         10  bridges, and that the State DOT -- her testimony was

         11  very clear, the State DOT is responsible for

         12  vehicular bridges.

         13                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE:

         14  Mr. Chairman, for the inspection program. We're

         15  responsible for the inspection. For corrective

         16  actions it would be the City DOT.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: But still the State

         18  DOT is responsible. You've just got to make sure

         19  that the City DOT is doing their job.

         20                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE:

         21  Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So right now you

         23  assume that the City DOT is working on the Brooklyn

         24  Bridge.

         25                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE:
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          2  Yes. We have no reason to believe otherwise.

          3                 We do do a quality review assurance

          4  of the inspection program. So, when we look at the

          5  next inspection report and look at what was done to

          6  see if any changes were made, we will follow-up with

          7  that.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay. You have no

          9  reason to believe that the City DOT hasn't been

         10  doing the required work on the Brooklyn Bridge. And

         11  yet, again, the Brooklyn Bridge has been under the

         12  biggest microscope in recent times, and the City DOT

         13  has convened a task force or national experts, the

         14  State DOT has been participating in, and the State

         15  DOT has also conducted this Governor Spitzer-ordered

         16  review of the deck truss bridges, and the Brooklyn

         17  Bridge, the agency hasn't looked at what is being

         18  done on the bridge? That's just --

         19                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE:

         20  Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I find that

         22  incredible. I wish we talked about this earlier. I

         23  thought we were going to have smooth sailing for the

         24  rest of the hearing.

         25                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE: We
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          2  will get back to you on the specific work on the

          3  Brooklyn Bridge. But, again, I'll just say, the

          4  rating is less than three. It does not necessarily

          5  mean it's unsafe. It means there's work that needs

          6  to bring the rating up. We will get you the specific

          7  work that's being done and what, you know, what will

          8  that do to change the rate and we'll give you that

          9  information.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: The biggest problem

         11  with the statement is that if -- well, let me say it

         12  another way. If you were to sit there and testify

         13  that it is the rating, it doesn't mean that it's

         14  unsafe, it gives us an idea of what we need to do,

         15  and this is how long we've known about that rating?

         16  And this is what we're doing to boost that rating

         17  into an acceptable range, then we would be totally

         18  supportive of what you're saying.

         19                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE:

         20  Mm-hmm.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: But you're

         22  testifying that, well, there is an unacceptable

         23  rating, it doesn't mean it's unsafe. But that you're

         24  not able to tell us how long has this unacceptable

         25  rating been in place, i.e., the notice has been put
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          2  out to the DOT, that it needs to be corrected, and

          3  what, if anything, is being done? Even in light of

          4  the attention that has been focused over the last

          5  month and a half on the Brooklyn Bridge, that is not

          6  comforting to the general public. And we want the

          7  general public to be comfortable.

          8                 So, that's not a question that I

          9  think you need to answer. You tried to answer it for

         10  the last 20 minutes now. I at least take comfort in

         11  your closing remarks of your prepared testimony that

         12  you're basically saying, unlike the City DOT, you're

         13  basically saying that more work needs to be done.

         14  More work needs to be done, and a greater effort

         15  needs to take place to making sure that our bridges

         16  are in good repair and safe for the general public.

         17                 At the very minimum we can conclude

         18  from your testimony and from the City's testimony

         19  that the State DOT probably needs to crack down more

         20  on the City DOT, especially with regard to that

         21  bridge out here, and I would also encourage the

         22  State DOT, although I'm just a City Council member,

         23  I would strongly encourage the State DOT to take

         24  those ratings more seriously. A 2.9 rating should

         25  not be allowed to just sit out there indefinitely
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          2  with no time frame and no plan of action.

          3                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE: I

          4  hope you don't go away with that impression. I can't

          5  recall a specific one for that bridge, but any

          6  bridge that -- well, there's two things. After we do

          7  the inspection of the bridge and it comes up with a

          8  rating, all bridges after that inspection gets a

          9  load rating, we do an analysis of the data that we

         10  collect to ensure that it's safe to carry the

         11  traffic that's allowed on there, or as Mr. Christian

         12  said earlier, we would post it or restrict the

         13  loads. I am sure that was done. So, therefore, some

         14  analysis was done to ensure the public that the

         15  traffic that's on there is safe.

         16                 Now, there may be more work that's

         17  necessary for corrective action maintenance-type

         18  work to bring the condition up, and we will get you

         19  that specific information.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Again, we would have

         21  thought that the people in charge of bridge safety

         22  would have brought that information, would have that

         23  information off the top of your heads in the few

         24  weeks after what happened in Minneapolis, and all

         25  the statements made about the Brooklyn Bridge.
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          2                 Nonetheless, this Committee will

          3  certainly appreciate the follow-up information that

          4  you can offer.

          5                 Again, how long has that rating been

          6  in place for the Brooklyn Bridge?

          7                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE:

          8  Okay.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And what the course

         10  of action is to raise that rating at least above the

         11  five that is considered acceptable.

         12                 The Brooklyn Bridge is an icon of New

         13  York City. Can you imagine what would happen all

         14  over the world if something happened to people who

         15  were taking that bridge?

         16                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE: I

         17  believe that. Just let me say a five rating is

         18  considered good, okay? So, a bridge that's over 100

         19  years old, to bring it to a good rating, you know,

         20  we're looking at a different score than what you

         21  proposed, all right?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay. Let me stand

         23  corrected. What's acceptable? Did you say a four is

         24  acceptable?

         25                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE:
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          2  Well, again --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: What's a rating that

          4  really doesn't require any plan of action currently?

          5                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE:

          6  Seven.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So a rating of five

          8  --

          9                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE:

         10  Every bridge, once we open it to traffic, over time

         11  will deteriorate, just the nature of things, and

         12  anything less than that would require maintenance or

         13  some more heavy work to bring it up to its new

         14  condition. So, anything over time will require some

         15  type of work, of maintenance.

         16                 I think, to get to your point, the

         17  lower the score probably means that the more work,

         18  corrective work is necessary.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: There clearly is.

         20  And now I think we're getting into too many

         21  semantics here. I think from the general public, the

         22  general public understands that the Brooklyn Bridge

         23  is not a new bridge. So, it will not be rated at

         24  seven. But it's still considered structurally

         25  deficient by the federal government, and so we have
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          2  to get it out of that. I don't think structurally

          3  deficient is a label you want to have on the

          4  Brooklyn Bridge or any other bridge for a long

          5  period of time. If it has to be a long period of

          6  time, because that's how long it takes to fix

          7  something like the Brooklyn Bridge, then fine, but

          8  there should be a plan of action in place.

          9                 So, 2.9 is not an acceptable, it's

         10  not acceptable for a bridge to be considered

         11  structurally deficient. We need to have a time

         12  frame, we need to have a plan of action, and

         13  certainly need to take these things seriously so

         14  that you at least know how long the rating has been

         15  in place.

         16                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GEE: I

         17  hear you. I think we do take it seriously. In the

         18  last decade, the percentage of structurally

         19  deficient bridges, as you classified, has been

         20  reduced to 12 percent. That's more than half the

         21  number of bridges. That were rated like that back in

         22  the 1990s.

         23                 So, we are taking it seriously, and

         24  we're continuing to do that.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay. I'm sorry to
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          2  disappoint you, gentlemen, but I have to wrap up

          3  your testimony. Because I've got to go next door for

          4  a one-minute, one second to vote. I'll be right

          5  back. So, thank you, gentlemen, for joining us

          6  today. We look forward to seeing you often here, and

          7  we'll now hear testimony from Frank Lombardi, the

          8  other Frank Lombardi, from the Port Authority. Thank

          9  you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Mr. Lombardi, thank

         11  you for joining us today. Please proceed.

         12                 MR. LOMBARDI: Thank you for inviting

         13  me.

         14                 This statement is to assure the New

         15  York City Council Committee on Transportation, that

         16  Port Authority bridges are safe and are in good

         17  condition.

         18                 Public safety was, is and will be the

         19  highest priority within the Port Authority. The Port

         20  Authority has a cyclical Condition Survey Program to

         21  ensure that all Port Authority structures, including

         22  tenant facilities, are structurally sound for public

         23  use.

         24                 A structure is defined as

         25  structurally sound if it functions as originally
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          2  designed and does not pose a potentially unsafe

          3  condition to the public.

          4                 The Port Authority's Condition Survey

          5  Program was established in 1984. Under this program,

          6  structural inspections are performed to identify all

          7  structural and non-structural deficiencies and make

          8  recommendations for all necessary repairs.

          9                 The annual budget to implement this

         10  program is approximately $10 million. Port Authority

         11  bridges, which include the George Washington Bridge,

         12  Bayonne Bridge, Goethels Bridge, the Outer Bridge

         13  Crossing, the Lincoln Tunnel approach roadways, and

         14  bridges at JFK and LaGuardia are inspected every two

         15  years in full compliance with the requirements of

         16  both New York State Department of Transportation and

         17  Federal Highway Administration.

         18                 Interim inspections will be performed

         19  if a condition is found that warrants additional

         20  investigation. The Port Authority Condition Survey

         21  Program also includes structures which are not

         22  mandated to be inspected by law such as the Holland

         23  and Lincoln Tunnels, waterfront structures, JFK

         24  light rail system and the PA bus terminal and George

         25  Washington Bridge Bus Station.

                                                            139

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 These structures are inspected every

          3  two, three, three, and six years respectively to

          4  ensure they are structurally sound and safe for

          5  public use.

          6                 Structural priority repair

          7  recommendations are made to prevent further

          8  deterioration and restore structures to function as

          9  originally designed.

         10                 If a structural deficiency develops

         11  from a priority repair, it is handled by taking

         12  immediate remedial action to ensure public safety.

         13                 As a result of these remedial actions

         14  taken, 100 percent of all Port Authority structures

         15  are maintained as structurally sound for public use.

         16  The Port Authority bridge inspection focus on

         17  condition of the bridge deck, the primary structural

         18  elements of the span and the underwater

         19  infrastructure, with special emphasis placed on

         20  areas of concern, such as non-redundant members,

         21  fracture critical members and fatigue prone details.

         22                 All deficiencies identified that

         23  require immediate remedial action are repaired

         24  immediately to ensure public safety.

         25                 These conditions are addressed by
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          2  Port Authority structural immediate call-in

          3  contractors assigned to various PA facilities.

          4                 Repairs that do not require immediate

          5  attention are included in the capital plan or are

          6  undertaken as part of the scheduled bridge

          7  maintenance program. These repairs are tracked to

          8  ensure appropriate remedial action be taken in a

          9  timely manner.

         10                 In the Port Authority's 2007 to 2016

         11  Capital Plan, $1.7 billion has been earmarked for

         12  state of good repair projects at all of the agency's

         13  bridges.

         14                 In addition to the Conditions Survey

         15  Program, PA facility staff performs day-to-day

         16  routine maintenance of the bridges, the budget in

         17  2007 for routine maintenance of all Port Authority

         18  bridges is approximately $1.7 million.

         19                 At the George Washington Bridge,

         20  there are 145 structural maintenance routines

         21  performed, an additional 70 routines are performed

         22  amongst the three Staten Island bridge facilities.

         23  Major components examined annually include the

         24  approach ramps, the abutments, the anchorage,

         25  structural steel members, deck surface, sidewalks
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          2  and suspender cable. Additionally, finger joints are

          3  examined six times per year.

          4                 In closing, I assure you again that

          5  all Port Authority bridges are now and will remain

          6  structurally sound and safe for public use for many

          7  years to come.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much,

         10  Mr. Lombardi.

         11                 Would you mind stating your name and

         12  title for the record.

         13                 MR. LOMBARDI: My name is Francis J.

         14  Lombardi, and I am the Chief Engineer of the Port

         15  Authority of New York and New Jersey.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: All right, just a

         17  couple of quick questions.

         18                 Are any of the Port Authority bridges

         19  considered structurally deficient?

         20                 MR. LOMBARDI: There are two percent

         21  of our bridges that are structurally deficient. And

         22  just to give you an example, there are 117 in the

         23  New York State side. We report to both the New York

         24  State DOT as well as New Jersey DOT, and out of the

         25  117 we have two, and we've identified them. One is
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          2  in construction that's taken care of as we speak,

          3  and the other one is in design.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So --

          5                 MR. LOMBARDI: Just two out of 117.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Are they new

          7  bridges?

          8                 MR. LOMBARDI: No. These are

          9  relatively old bridges. I could give you exactly

         10  what they are. There's a couple of ramps on the

         11  George Washington Bridge. Thirty-eight spans, for

         12  example. And it was rated a five, but it's

         13  structurally deficient and we have deteriorated deck

         14  and pier columns and we are reconstructing that

         15  right now.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And is that open for

         17  traffic right now?

         18                 MR. LOMBARDI: Yes.

         19                 It's a rated 5, so it's good. There

         20  are some components of it that we want to improve

         21  and rehabilitate.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay. But it is

         23  considered structurally deficient, but you're doing

         24  the work right now.

         25                 MR. LOMBARDI: But we're working on it
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          2  right now. If you look at the definition that is

          3  defining category five, there are some members that

          4  might require some repairs.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And do you know

          6  roughly how long it's been considered structurally

          7  deficient?

          8                 MR. LOMBARDI: We found it in 2005,

          9  and now we're presently doing our structural

         10  integrity biannual of the George Washington Bridge

         11  again this year, and we're spending two and a half

         12  million dollars to do that again, and we're going to

         13  be looking at this repair to make sure that it's

         14  satisfactory.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: All right. To get it

         16  out of the structurally deficient --

         17                 MR. LOMBARDI: So, we get it out of

         18  it, and the whole entire George Washington Bridge

         19  would be rated five. All the approach slabs,

         20  everything. All the approach ramps, everything,

         21  including all the ramps going to and from the

         22  Bridge.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And how much longer

         24  do you expect, rough estimate? Another year, another

         25  two years, another six months?
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          2                 MR. LOMBARDI: This is basically a six

          3  months to a year time frame we're talking about.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, it began to be

          5  considered structurally deficient about two years

          6  ago?

          7                 MR. LOMBARDI: That's one item out of

          8  117.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay, that's fine.

         10  And then it's going to be done within the next year.

         11                 MR. LOMBARDI: Correct.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I mean, that's the

         13  issue I'm trying to get at, whether the Port

         14  Authority is addressing it or not.

         15                 MR. LOMBARDI: We are.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And it seems like in

         17  this case it is being addressed.

         18                 What about the other case that you

         19  talked about?

         20                 MR. LOMBARDI: The other case is in

         21  design, and that's one of the George Washington

         22  Bridge, Broadway 195. It's just two spans. It was

         23  built in 1960. The general recommendation there is a

         24  four, and we have deteriorated cap beam, and

         25  deteriorated pre-stress concrete stringers that we
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          2  are now presently designing to correct that.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And --

          4                 MR. LOMBARDI: And that will take

          5  another year or so to repair, and that four will

          6  turn into a five.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.

          8                 And the structural deficient label

          9  will go away?

         10                 MR. LOMBARDI: Exactly.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay. And when you

         12  say 117 bridges, you mean 117 spans?

         13                 MR. LOMBARDI: No, no. I have the

         14  inventory of all 117 and I could define how many

         15  spans are in every one of those inventories.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I see.

         17                 MR. LOMBARDI: So, I'm not talking

         18  about just spans, just to give you an idea. For

         19  example, in the Lincoln Tunnel -- let's take the

         20  George Washington Bridge, the lower level, for

         21  example, of the George Washington Bridge has 11

         22  spans, so that's one bridge inventory and that's

         23  bridge inventory number 63.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Right.

         25                 MR. LOMBARDI: The upper level has 23,
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          2  which is Bridge Inventory 66. So, we're talking

          3  about 117, 63, number 63, that component, the lower,

          4  and 64 is the upper. So, there are a lot of spans in

          5  those particular inventories.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, it's 117

          7  bridges, but it could be well over 1,000 spans all

          8  together.

          9                 MR. LOMBARDI: That's correct.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And you have two

         11  spans out of these over 1,000 that you know about.

         12                 MR. LOMBARDI: That's right.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: But the Port

         14  Authority, they identified the structurally

         15  deficient spans, and Port Authority is working on it

         16  and time frame is, in the first case, six months to

         17  a year from now, and in the other case, since it's

         18  still in the design stage, it's got to go to

         19  contracting and construction probably a year, year

         20  and a half.

         21                 MR. LOMBARDI: Right.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.

         23                 MR. LOMBARDI: And it should be done

         24  for the next cycle which would be scheduled in 2009.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And how often do
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          2  these inspections take place?

          3                 MR. LOMBARDI: They take place every

          4  two years as prescribed, and they're random so

          5  you're doing multiple, and we spread that $10

          6  million over an annual budget to do that.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, the two year

          8  inspection cycle is comparable to the New York State

          9  DOT's?

         10                 MR. LOMBARDI: Oh, it meets that

         11  requirement, yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: That's the federal

         13  requirement.

         14                 MR. LOMBARDI: Yes.

         15                 If we need to look at something

         16  closer, because of let's say some fracture cracking,

         17  we want to drill a hole to stop the cracking before

         18  we go back to make sure that that particular crack

         19  was stopped.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: All right.

         21                 Council Member Ignizio has a

         22  question.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER IGNIZIO: Thank you

         24  very much. Hello, Frank.

         25                 As a son of the Port Authority, as
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          2  you may or may not know, my father was there for 38

          3  years, I'm grateful that the Port Authority --

          4                 MR. LOMBARDI: Congratulations.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER IGNIZIO: Thank you. --

          6  Port Authority bridges are in good repair. I think

          7  it's important for this Committee to point out that

          8  it's my belief, and I think we'll see once MTA comes

          9  up, the Port Authority bridges and the MTA bridges

         10  are constantly doing repairs and work, so much so

         11  that a lot of my constituents complain about the

         12  traffic ensues, but it keeps them safe in the end of

         13  the day.

         14                 The Goethels Bridge is slated for

         15  total repair, is that due to deficiencies, or is

         16  that due because the 11-foot lanes and it's obsolete

         17  for the time?

         18                 MR. LOMBARDI: It's obsolete for the

         19  time. You have a lot of truck traffic that has

         20  increased over the Goethels, and whenever you pass

         21  or you're near one of those trucks, a ten-foot lane.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER IGNIZIO: A ten-foot

         23  lane.

         24                 MR. LOMBARDI: So it gets very, very

         25  tricky to try to even be next to a ten foot --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER IGNIZIO: So, this is

          3  not because of any structural impediment that the

          4  bridge is at risk or whatnot, it's because it's

          5  obsolete for the width or whatnot?

          6                 MR. LOMBARDI: Exactly. To make it

          7  much more up-to-date from a safety perspective, and

          8  at the same time it helps by increasing the lanes

          9  because there will be much more traffic going there.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER IGNIZIO: Okay. That's

         11  the only question I had.

         12                 Mr. Chairman, thank you very much.

         13  Thank you, sir.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much,

         15  Council Member Ignizio, and Mr. Lombardi, thank you

         16  very much for your testimony and your patience.

         17                 MR. LOMBARDI: Thank you, sir.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Now we invite our

         19  officials from the Metropolitan Transportation

         20  Authority and thank you for your patience.

         21                 MR. RING: Councilman Liu, Councilman

         22  Ignizio, Mr. Hom, my name is Hillary Ring. I'm the

         23  Director of Government Affairs for the Metropolitan

         24  Transportation Authority. I'm joined today my Tom

         25  Bach, who is the Chief Engineer for MTA's Bridges
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          2  and Tunnels and Cathy Sweeney, who is MTA's Bridges

          3  and Tunnels Chief of Staff and Vice President.

          4                 On an average day, we move more than

          5  900,000 vehicles over the MTA's seven bridges and

          6  two tunnels, and we're the largest bridge and toll

          7  authority in America.

          8                 These crossings, which include the

          9  Verrazano Narrows Bridge, the Triborough Bridge, the

         10  Throggsneck Bridge, the Bronx Whitestone Bridge, the

         11  Gil Hodges Marine Parkway Bridge, the Cross Bay

         12  Veterans Memorial Bridge, and the Henry Hudson

         13  Bridge, and the Queens Midtown Tunnel and the

         14  Brooklyn Battery Tunnel.

         15                 Mr. Bach is here to talk to you today

         16  about the condition of our bridges and the

         17  procedures that we use to inspect them. Ms. Sweeney

         18  is prepared to answer any questions you might have

         19  regarding MTA bridges and tunnels, operations and

         20  customer service.

         21                 Tom, do you want to begin?

         22                 MR. BACH: Thank you, Hillary. And

         23  thank you for the opportunity to speak here today.

         24                 My name is Tom Bach, and I'm the

         25  Chief Engineer of MTA Bridges and Tunnels. I have
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          2  been a licensed professional engineer in New York

          3  State for 29 years and I've been with the Authority

          4  for almost 18 years. MTA operates seven bridges in

          5  New York City, which Mr. Ring just named. These

          6  structures include some of the oldest, largest, most

          7  complex and heavily traveled structures in the

          8  nation, more than 300 million customers utilized B&T

          9  facilities in 2006, and B&Ts $1.2 billion annual

         10  toll revenue funds its own operations and capital

         11  program and generates revenue for the services of

         12  the MTA mass transit.

         13                 As a result of thorough inspections,

         14  dedicated on-site staff at each crossing and

         15  constant reinvestment through our capital program,

         16  these structures are safe and in a state of good

         17  repair. This fact is evidenced by our most recent

         18  New York State general recommendation rating that

         19  averaged 4.7 with no rating being lower than 4. Our

         20  ratings are also improving which indicates that we

         21  are staying ahead of the age versus deterioration

         22  curve.

         23                 In addition, we are part of the

         24  Governor's Bridge Task Force, which was assembled in

         25  response to the recent collapse of the deck truss

                                                            152

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  bridge in Minneapolis. We have just completed a

          3  biennial inspection of our Marine Parkway Bridge,

          4  which has deck truss features, and we reinspected

          5  the bridge again as part of the task force effort

          6  and again found it to be in good condition.

          7                 In a recent report to Governor

          8  Spitzer, the New York State DOT aptly noted that the

          9  State bridge structures are old, and require

         10  vigilance, great effort and significant funding to

         11  ensure that they continue to serve the traveling

         12  public.

         13                 Five of our crossings were built in

         14  the 1930s, for example, and these structures have

         15  received the lion's share of our vigilance effort in

         16  capital investment. These bridges continue to

         17  service well, despite the advanced age and

         18  ever-increasing traffic volumes. As indicated on the

         19  charts on the following pages, our bridges range in

         20  age from 71 to 37 years old, and annual traffic on

         21  our crossing ranges from 71 million on the Verrazano

         22  Bridge to 7 million on each of our two Rockaway

         23  bridges.

         24                 We will continue to meet our

         25  responsibility to ensure that these critical
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          2  structures are safe and sound today and maintained

          3  for future generations. We accomplish this through

          4  proven strategies that combine regular intensive

          5  inspections, which are complimented by the work of

          6  dedicated on-site engineering and maintenance

          7  personnel assigned to each facility.

          8                 These employees have come to know

          9  bridge and tunnel facilities inside and out and

         10  they're cared for daily. The knowledge gained by our

         11  staff and through our inspections is in turn

         12  translated into a five-year capital program, and a

         13  20-year capital needs assessment, and annual

         14  maintenance and painting programs.

         15                 These programs precisely target and

         16  address the specific needs of each facility. I would

         17  like to review the components of these various

         18  strategies with you know.

         19                 As you may know, the State biennial

         20  inspection program is extensive and is more rigorous

         21  than federal requirements. New York is one of the

         22  few states in the nation that requires bridge

         23  inspection teams to be headed by licensed

         24  professional engineers, who have undergone specific

         25  training. The inspection program is vital to
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          2  identify facility needs and is a key component for

          3  capital planning.

          4                 Like other New York State toll

          5  authorities and commissions, bridges and tunnels is

          6  responsible for inspecting our own bridges every two

          7  years, and we are required to submit the inspection

          8  data to New York State DOT for their review.

          9                 Our inspections are carried out by

         10  professional engineering firms, they take many

         11  months to complete, and cost the authority about $5

         12  million a year.

         13                 B&T's outside consultants possess

         14  special expertise in the inspection of B&T's large

         15  complex structures. The inspectors are required to

         16  evaluate, assign a condition score, and document the

         17  condition of up to 47 structural elements, including

         18  rating 25 components of each span of a bridge, in

         19  addition to general components common to all

         20  bridges.

         21                 In addition, in late 2006, the MTA

         22  awarded a contract to Wilbur Smith Associates to do

         23  an independent thorough review of B&T's inspection

         24  program. The final report issued in May of this year

         25  for the overall assessment of our bridges and tunnel
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          2  inspection program is very positive.

          3                 The report states with respect to

          4  accuracy, clarity and thoroughness of reports

          5  generated, we find them to be of the highest

          6  quality.

          7                 Biennial inspection program includes

          8  diving inspections of underwater structures and

          9  fathometric surveys that study underwater contours

         10  for the entire length of a bridge. Mechanical and

         11  electrical inspections are also performed on the

         12  vertical lift bridges at Triborough and Marine

         13  Parkway. The bridge is observed during the lifting

         14  operations, and all mechanical systems and

         15  components are checked during bridge operation.

         16                 The electrical inspections include

         17  operation of the traffic and navigation and safety

         18  systems, power supplies, motors, circuit breakers,

         19  wires and cables, and relays, to name a few. Bridge

         20  elevators are also thoroughly inspected as part of

         21  the program.

         22                 These inspections supplement B&T's

         23  ongoing maintenance activity. Our lift bridges are

         24  regularly exercised and maintained in accordance

         25  with the rigorous preventive maintenance program.

                                                            156

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 Paint provides vital protection for

          3  all of our steel structures, and the biennial

          4  inspection consultant is also required to provide a

          5  paint condition report, which is used by our paint

          6  group to evaluate the current paint condition, plan

          7  paint cycles and make capital program decisions.

          8                 From 1992 through 2006, the Authority

          9  will have spent 317.9 million on the painting of our

         10  bridges. Expenditures for painting have been

         11  increasing over the years. As the chart indicates,

         12  B&T invested 49.9 million in painting in 2006.

         13                 In addition, to the inspection

         14  efforts of our biennial inspection program, B&T

         15  employs a full-time staff of engineering

         16  professionals located at each facility to monitor

         17  the condition of the facility and to plan, design

         18  and execute our capital maintenance and painting

         19  programs.

         20                 The staff also provides a quality

         21  assurance check on the work of our third-party

         22  consultants who perform the great majority of our

         23  designs and inspections.

         24                 They work closely with the biennial

         25  inspectors and are primarily responsible to ensure
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          2  that inspection findings and recommendations are

          3  implemented.

          4                 Each facility staff consists of a

          5  facility engineer and several engineer and support

          6  personnel under his supervision. Professional

          7  engineer licenses are required for many of these

          8  positions, and presently 46 percent of all B&T

          9  dedicated field engineering staff possess a

         10  professional engineering license.

         11                 These personnel provide eyes and

         12  hands in the field, and are an additional line of

         13  defense to prevent problems with authority bridges.

         14                 Through the years each facility

         15  engineering staff has developed an understanding and

         16  sophistication regarding the needs of their

         17  facility.

         18                 Additionally, we have a dedicated

         19  maintenance staff under the direction of a facility

         20  maintenance superintendent and general manager, and

         21  this hands-on knowledge allows us to rapidly and

         22  effectively address whatever problems arise.

         23                 The role of the maintenance crew

         24  assigned to the bridges is vital and includes such

         25  functions as cleaning bridge drains, scuppers and
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          2  catch basins to prevent flooding, repair of roadway

          3  potholes and expansion joints, standpipe, lighting

          4  and other electrical, inspection, maintenance and

          5  repair, roadway sweeping and cleaning, and the

          6  application of deicer and snow removal, and

          7  maintenance of roadway temperature sensors. In

          8  addition, specialty crews in roadway, structural,

          9  electrical, machine shop and sign shop work are

         10  available to service the facilities from two Central

         11  Maintenance locations. As indicated, we have 43

         12  engineers on site, 20 of whom are PEs, and 143

         13  maintainers either on site or available for rapid

         14  response to our seven sites.

         15                 In addition to the field staff, the

         16  Authority employs a technical services staff of 54

         17  engineers who operate from our headquarters facility

         18  at Randall's Island. This staff includes engineers

         19  with expertise in structural engineering, electrical

         20  engineering, mechanical engineering, traffic

         21  engineering and architecture, as well as engineers

         22  experienced in project management.

         23                 They also provide a vital function of

         24  plan and specification review, assuring that the

         25  plans have been developed by third-party consultants
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          2  are of the highest quality, modern, efficient and

          3  appropriate for authority purposes.

          4                 An in-house structural inspection

          5  unit works within this section of E&

          6  C and is comprised of six structural inspectors who

          7  are bridge climbing specialists and are extensively

          8  familiar with our structures. While B&T readily

          9  acknowledges the professionalism and ability of our

         10  biennial consultants, the inspection gathered is so

         11  vital to B&T's operation that we perform this second

         12  level of quality assurance on our consultants.

         13                 B&T's policy is trust but verified.

         14  This inspection effort helps us focus

         15  rehabilitation, repair and reconstruction efforts

         16  that are made toward capital, maintenance and

         17  painting programs.

         18                 In total, B&T has nearly 200

         19  full-time dedicated engineers and maintenance people

         20  assigned to seven bridges, and many more engineers,

         21  maintainers and support personnel are available when

         22  required.

         23                 Since 1992, B&T has committed $2.8

         24  billion in capital improvements to our structures

         25  and facilities. The following charts sorts these
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          2  expenditures by the type of improvement, and by

          3  facility. A total of $1.6 billion will have been

          4  spent on roadway, plaza and deck rehabilitation and

          5  repairs, and 595 million will have been spent on

          6  other structural repairs. As indicated on the next

          7  pages, the Triborough Bridge, our flagship facility

          8  and oldest crossing which is actually comprised of

          9  three bridges, and miles of elevated viaduct has

         10  received the lion's share of funds and 912 million.

         11  B&T also annually prepares a maintenance program and

         12  more than 27 million was expended in 2006.

         13                 Looking ahead, partly because of

         14  increased scrutiny of trucks post 9/11, the

         15  authority has become aware that numerous overweight

         16  trucks have been using our facilities.

         17                 We've taken action to understand the

         18  problem and better protect our bridges, including

         19  increased enforcement to supplement City and State

         20  enforcement efforts, and we're also doing studies to

         21  determine the scope of the problem.

         22                 In conclusion, B&T believes that our

         23  structures are safe and that continuation of the

         24  inspection, maintenance and capital reinvestment

         25  programs, along with the on-site personnel resources
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          2  we have outlined here, will assure safety in the

          3  future.

          4                 Thank you. And if anyone has any

          5  questions, I'd be happy to try and address them.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much

          7  for your testimony. Now, your testimony only

          8  pertains to vehicular bridges. It does not cover any

          9  of the bridge structures that are used by subways?

         10                 MR. BACH: That's correct. We only own

         11  and operate vehicular facilities.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So are you familiar

         13  with those bridges, or are you only responsible for

         14  the vehicular bridges?

         15                 MR. BACH: I am responsible for the

         16  vehicular bridges only, and that's what I came here

         17  to testify about, Councilman.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay. Presumably the

         19  MTA works closely with the agencies that actually

         20  own the bridges that the subways traverse?

         21                 MR. RING: Yes. New York City Transit

         22  works closely with New York City DOT, on those

         23  bridges, as well as all the other vehicular, rail

         24  transit, rail bridges in the City, but --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.
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          2                 MR. RING: But we didn't think that

          3  that was the topic of this hearing, so...

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: All right. So, for

          5  B&T, and I was happy to be at the B&T headquarters

          6  just a few months ago. It was a very pleasant visit,

          7  we have very nice, very nice people there.

          8                 Now, how many bridges are under the

          9  control of B&T?

         10                 MR. BACH: Seven, Councilman.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And how many spans

         12  are we talking about?

         13                 MR. BACH: I don't have a precise

         14  count, but many hundreds of our bridges are all long

         15  span and quite complex.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, several hundred

         17  spans?

         18                 MR. BACH: Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And you also have

         20  issues with some of these spans being considered

         21  structurally deficient?

         22                 MR. BACH: Our ratings by the State

         23  criteria Councilman are never lower than four, and

         24  average 4.7. If the State were to apply a word to a

         25  five they would call it good, and would call a four
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          2  fair. So, we think we're almost good.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Right. So, none of

          4  the spans, none of the hundreds of spans under the

          5  control of B&T are rated under four?

          6                 MR. BACH: Correct.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Does that also mean

          8  that none of them are considered structurally

          9  deficient?

         10                 MR. BACH: I believe that's true, but

         11  the federal descriptions and ratings are a little

         12  bit, are somewhat different. We have no federal

         13  ratings less than four and I believe the federal

         14  government defines deficient as less than four. All

         15  our structures are four or above.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay. We heard an

         17  explanation before why the federal ratings are

         18  somewhat different from the State ratings; do you

         19  have an explanation?

         20                 MR. BACH: Well, I could guess. We're

         21  quite different from New York City DOT and State

         22  DOT, they own thousands and hundreds of bridges, we

         23  own seven. The federal system seems to be centered

         24  towards a decision-making process that allows them

         25  to vet out thousands or hundreds of thousands of
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          2  bridges and pick the ones that need repair. We don't

          3  need that sort of information, we have boots on the

          4  ground and biennial inspectors who are out there

          5  virtually every day and we've got a very good, a

          6  very good handle on the condition of our structures.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, does that mean

          8  on a local level actually we don't mind the federal

          9  government saying that some of our bridges are

         10  structurally deficient because that provides, that

         11  helps us in the decision making and possibly

         12  provides more funds?

         13                 MR. BACH: Well, we're self-funded,

         14  Councilman, and that's not, you know, much of an

         15  issue to B&T.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.

         17                 All right, a question from Council

         18  Member Ignizio.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER IGNIZIO: More of a

         20  comment that I said to Frank before. I think while

         21  Council Committees as a whole usually are critical

         22  and try to dig up the truth and try to find out the

         23  solutions to some of the problems, I think the

         24  Committees need to applaud when things are done

         25  right, and quite frankly, from what I heard from
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          2  you, and from what I've heard from the MTA, your

          3  agency is to be applauded for having, for exceeding

          4  from what it looks like the national average of

          5  bridges and tunnels around the nation.

          6                 So, while many of us are quick to

          7  criticize when it's warranted, we should be so quick

          8  to applaud when it's warranted as well, and I just

          9  wanted to offer my praise at the agency for having

         10  bridges that far exceed the national average.

         11                 MR. BACH: Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much,

         13  Council Member Ignizio.

         14                 With that, I really appreciate the

         15  input of the Metropolitan Transportation Authority.

         16  Thank you, and thank you for your patience.

         17                 MR. RING: Thank you very much.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I'd like to now call

         19  upon members of the IUPAT, DC 9 and Local 806.

         20                 Please proceed when you're ready,

         21  Jack.

         22                 MR. KITTLE: Thank you, Chairman Liu.

         23  My name is Jack Kittle. I know you know me as a

         24  representative of District Council 9, but I spent 20

         25  years before that working as a bridge painter in
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          2  this City and I don't have initials after my name,

          3  I'm not an engineer but I have a pretty good idea

          4  what it looks like underneath the bridges.

          5                 I had a prepared statement that I

          6  will turn in but I wanted to go off script and first

          7  say I want to commend you on an excellent job today

          8  dealing with the various agencies that came in, and

          9  just a couple of notes that I took when I was

         10  sitting back there.

         11                 When I listened to the questions that

         12  were asked by yourself and the members of the

         13  Committee, I realize that you're very serious about

         14  this issue and I think you understand it very well.

         15  One of the things that should have struck all of us

         16  near the end was when we heard from the Port

         17  Authority and the MTA Bridges and Tunnels, they had

         18  a much rosier picture to paint about their bridges

         19  than did the City and the State, and the key

         20  difference is that they have maintenance plans that

         21  go forward. You heard the Port Authority rep, their

         22  plan goes out to 2016. It's something that the City

         23  and the State bridges don't do well enough. You

         24  know, we had this about 40 years ago, so Mayor

         25  Lindsay introduced us to deferred maintenance, which
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          2  basically means we will wait until the bridge is

          3  ready to fall down and we will rebuild it. I heard

          4  the word rebuild and rehab said an awful lot today.

          5  I didn't really hear the word maintenance said a

          6  lot.

          7                 When I hear rehab and rebuild, the

          8  word billions comes into my head. When I hear

          9  maintenance, I think millions, and we're here today

         10  to not talk about the immediate safety of the

         11  bridges. I really don't have anything bad to say

         12  about any of the authorities that deal with these

         13  bridges. I think they do a great job with the

         14  resources available for them, but we wanted to talk

         15  with them a little bit about infrastructure and how

         16  it relates to public policy, and you know, you

         17  started to get to it, Mr. Chairman, Councilman

         18  Weprin and Councilman Gerson started to ask those

         19  questions about is there a plan to maintain the

         20  bridge, and the truth is the answers were kind of

         21  evasive and the reason is it's really not a

         22  long-term plan, and I get the sense that the

         23  engineers at these agencies know what they're doing,

         24  they're professionals, they want to do it right, the

         25  question is, is the money going to be there when
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          2  there is a new Mayor and a new Governor and a new

          3  legislature at every level.

          4                 So, we're here to encourage this body

          5  to think about that. I understand it's hard to get

          6  money out of an operating budget. It's much easier

          7  to go to capital budgets where we can float bonds

          8  and let our grandchildren worry about it, and it's

          9  really not that sexy to paint the bridges. But if we

         10  would think about maintaining them, as well as the

         11  Port Authority and the TBTA do, we could save our

         12  taxpayers billions of dollars over the long run. And

         13  you can read -- I don't have to go back on script.

         14  You can read that, I will turn in copies, and I

         15  thank you very much, Mr. Chairman, for your time

         16  today.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Mr.

         18  Kittle.

         19                 Would you like to--

         20                 MR. KITTLE: I'll introduce, with me

         21  today we have the Business Agent of the bridge

         22  painters Local Union 806, Angelo Serse, and Pete

         23  Morris, who is a supervisor, more on the management

         24  side, but also a member of Local 86, and I think

         25  Angelo, Mr. Serse, will go first.
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          2                 MR. SERSE: Like Jack said, my name is

          3  Angelo Serse. I'm a Business Agent. I'm also a

          4  bridge painter for 25 years, and I've been under

          5  there and I've seen what needs to be done.

          6                 I would also like to encourage the

          7  allocation of funds to maintain the valid

          8  infrastructure, rather than constantly waiting until

          9  the bridge has passed the tipping point and needs to

         10  be rebuilt.

         11                 Regular maintenance not only saves

         12  money in the long run, it very often can expose a

         13  problem that obviously wasn't detectable until our

         14  workers removed the old coating. This issue on the

         15  Throggs Neck is a current example of this. And also

         16  some of you might remember, the issue with the

         17  Williamsburg Bridge in 1980s, this was also a case

         18  of our workers finding the problem, being up close.

         19                 Either way we are going to get paid,

         20  the question is, do we get paid billions when we

         21  rebuild, or millions in maintenance.

         22                 There was an old commercial about car

         23  maintenance that had the tag line "pay me now or pay

         24  me later." Same principle applies here. Taxpayers of

         25  the City need leadership. Leaders need to have
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          2  vision. Do we make the tough funding decision today

          3  or do we wait for our children to overpay later? We

          4  have been talking about this issue for years, and

          5  only now in the wake of the tragedy in Minnesota

          6  does anybody else want to talk about it. Let's stop

          7  talking about it and do something. Let's have a

          8  long-term maintenance program in place and say that

          9  we did our part to avoid future tragedies while

         10  being fiscally responsible.

         11                 And like Jack said prior, the Port

         12  Authority and TBTA, the bridges are in great shape

         13  because they have a maintenance plan, and they do

         14  maintain them.

         15                 Thank you for the opportunity to be

         16  heard today.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much.

         18                 MR. MORRIS: Chairman Liu, members of

         19  the Committee, my name is Pete Morris. I'm a bridge

         20  painting superintendent and I have been in the City

         21  for over 25 years. I also wish to speak to the

         22  importance to maintaining our infrastructure and the

         23  economic advantage of doing so versus rebuilding.

         24                 We know that the steel structure is

         25  going to start rusting from the day it is built.
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          2  Steel is always going to try and dump off the energy

          3  it acquired during the smelting process. It will try

          4  to return to its natural state. Factor in the

          5  climate issues in this region and you'll realize

          6  that you need to begin thinking about our bridges

          7  soon after they're built.

          8                 Rust robs any steel structure of its

          9  elasticity and strength. It becomes like a cancer

         10  and pretty soon spreads throughout the entire

         11  structure.

         12                 Boiled down, there are basically

         13  three ways to protect steel from rusting.

         14                 Number one. Modification of the

         15  environment that it is exposed to. This, of course,

         16  is not an option as these bridges are where they

         17  need to be. We live in a harsh environment. We're

         18  exposed to extreme heat and cold, which brings road

         19  salt into the equation.

         20                 The second option is electrical

         21  methods of control. These have been tried and so far

         22  have offered limited success.

         23                 And the third option is the use of

         24  protective coatings. There are different paint

         25  systems for coating a bridge, but in the end, they

                                                            172

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  basically fit into two categories, barrier and

          3  cathodic protection.

          4                 Lately, we've seen a new strategy in

          5  bridge maintenance. Almost every project is

          6  employing a zinc coating system. Simply put, zinc is

          7  a sacrificial coating. Rust is an electrochemical

          8  process and a zinc coating will assume the roll of

          9  the anode and begin rusting prior to the substrate.

         10  This tells us that the agencies responsible for the

         11  care of the bridges have a long range plan. The

         12  problem will occur if there isn't any money for the

         13  recoating in ten to 15 years. We also need a

         14  long-range plant so the experts can plan ahead in a

         15  very responsible way. And I thank you for giving me

         16  this opportunity.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you,

         18  gentlemen, for your testimony.

         19                 Are you familiar at all with the

         20  bridge inspection process? I mean, you're up there.

         21  You're literally dangling from the bridges, in some

         22  cases, when you're painting. And is that what the

         23  bridge inspectors also have to go through? Do they

         24  simply look from land with a set of binoculars? How

         25  do the bridge inspectors actually look through the
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          2  bridges and detect any kinds of defects or warning

          3  signs?

          4                 MR. KITTLE: That's a very good

          5  question, Mr. Chairman, and we are very involved in

          6  that process. We typically do the rigging for the

          7  inspectors so that they can get up close. The bridge

          8  painter's type of rigging is very mobile, where like

          9  an iron worker, for example, might set up and be in

         10  a certain area for awhile, so they almost always use

         11  us, whether it's cable, you know, Catinary Cable

         12  Systems (phonetic), or Snooper trucks (phonetic),

         13  but they do get up very, up close.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, the inspector

         15  that the DOT, both the City and the State testified

         16  about, they actually get up right on the bridge, on

         17  the structure itself, below the structure itself,

         18  and use the same kinds of, I guess harnesses or

         19  support structures that the painters use?

         20                 MR. KITTLE: Yes. Are you suggesting

         21  they should get more money for that?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I'm just trying to

         23  get a sense of what exactly the inspectors --

         24                 MR. KITTLE: Yes, they do.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: -- Go through.
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          2                 MR. KITTLE: Yeah. No, they're right

          3  up close and a lot of it is eye-balled, but there is

          4  some new technologies that we see them using and the

          5  engineers can testify to that better than we can.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I won't hold you to

          7  this, but do any of you have a rough idea of how

          8  long it would take to inspect the Brooklyn Bridge?

          9                 I'm assuming that it would take a

         10  long time just to get through an inspection with the

         11  whole bridge?

         12                 MR. KITTLE: It depends on how many

         13  people they are willing to commit to it.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: How many like people

         15  days would it take?

         16                 MR. KITTLE: Yes, that's a good

         17  question.

         18                 Do you want to guess?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Would it take --

         20                 MR. KITTLE: We're doing it right now,

         21  aren't we?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Would it take one

         23  person more than one year to look at that bridge?

         24                 MR. KITTLE: No, no, no. No way. It

         25  would be several months though. They're actually in
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          2  the middle of it right now. We have a crew up there

          3  right now.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: If only one person

          5  was inspecting the Brooklyn Bridge, it would take

          6  several months?

          7                 MR. MORRIS: It would take longer than

          8  that with one. It would take a lot longer than that.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I'm just trying to

         10  get at how much of a resource is necessary just to

         11  inspect one bridge like the Brooklyn Bridge.

         12                 MR. SERSE: Well, they put it out in

         13  pieces. There's times where they'll inspect the

         14  approaches. Like now we're doing the approaches,

         15  like that gentleman was talking about, and, yes, we

         16  are in fact doing repairs, the iron workers are

         17  doing repairs on the Brooklyn Bridge as we speak.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So the repairs are

         19  being done.

         20                 MR. SERSE: Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: The guy in charge

         22  just didn't know that it was being done.

         23                 MR. SERSE: Yes. Yes. That's correct.

         24  It's being done right now.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well, that's
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          2  actually comforting, more comforting than before.

          3                 MR. SERSE: But in the same time

          4  they're using the platform that we had put in place

          5  there for the inspection, so they're repairing some

          6  steel beams right now, and they are repairing at the

          7  same time.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay. Thank you very

          9  much for that insight.

         10                 MR. KITTLE: Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

         12                 The next witness will be Ms. Hope

         13  Cohen.

         14                 Thank you, Ms. Cohen, for

         15  participating in today's hearing and for sticking

         16  around for so long.

         17                 MS. COHEN: Thank you, Mr. Chairman,

         18  for inviting me, and I think you'll find it

         19  interesting how much I agree with the DC 9 members

         20  you just heard from. I am Hope Cohen. I'm the Deputy

         21  Director of the Center for Rethinking Development at

         22  Manhattan Institute. By this point of the hearing,

         23  we have heard rightly many reassurances from

         24  transportation officials that our bridges are safe

         25  enough for use. They said, as I predicted in my
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          2  prewritten testimony, if and when they get

          3  dangerous, we shut them down. And indeed two weeks

          4  from now, the lower roadway of the Manhattan Bridge

          5  will reopen fully to traffic of all vehicle pipes.

          6  Under repair since 1982, various lanes at various

          7  times have been closed when dangerous. Just before

          8  Christmas of 1987, Samuel Schwartz, who was then the

          9  First Deputy Commissioner of Transportation closed a

         10  lane to all traffic and the entire lower roadway to

         11  trucks and buses when inspectors found 20 floor

         12  beams with cracks longer than 15 inches. And now

         13  $800 million later, the Manhattan Bridge job is

         14  almost done.

         15                 By the way, that number does not

         16  include all the capital work to reconstruct the

         17  subway line across the bridge, many in this room

         18  remember the years of disruption to transit service

         19  because of the subway work required, and, again,

         20  Chairman Liu, you brought up at the end there the

         21  question of subway bridges, and you'll need to call

         22  other witnesses from New York City Transit actually

         23  responsible for maintaining those.

         24                 So, yes, bridges are closed before

         25  pieces of them start falling into the City's rivers
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          2  and bays, and it's great that the DOT's engineers

          3  are able to catch these problems in the nick of

          4  time, but do we really want to be living this close

          5  to the River's edge.

          6                 New York's bridges are operated and

          7  maintained, as we've heard today, by three different

          8  entities: the Hudson River Crossings, by the Port

          9  Authority of New York and New Jersey, it's category

         10  one. Category two, are the seven bridges just named

         11  by the MTA's Bridges and Tunnels, which was formerly

         12  the Triborough Bridge and Tunnel Authority. And then

         13  the third category is all the rest, which are a

         14  combination of City and State DOT.

         15                 The first two categories, the Port

         16  Authority and the MTA bridges are tolls. They're

         17  regularly and fully maintained and in good

         18  condition. It can be annoying to drivers that as

         19  soon as they finish painting the Throggsneck Bridge

         20  they start over again, but actually that's what

         21  bridges need when exposed to water and salt and wind

         22  and auto exhaust.

         23                 The third category, the State and

         24  City maintained bridges, which includes the

         25  Manhattan Bridge, along with many, many far less
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          2  well known, are not tolled. Having no dedicated

          3  revenue stream for maintenance, they simply cannot

          4  be maintained at the level that the Port Authority

          5  and MTA bridges and tunnels maintain their

          6  facilities.

          7                 Last December we hosted a forum at

          8  the Center for Rethinking Development on Public

          9  Acceptance and Congestion Pricing. Yes, we're a

         10  little ahead of the curve on that one.

         11                 One of the panelists was Sam

         12  Schwartz, the very same Sam Schwartz that shut down

         13  a dangerous Manhattan Bridge in 1987. He is now a

         14  sought after transportation consultant and the

         15  Gridlock Sam columnist for the Daily News. He argued

         16  that congestion pricing would benefit the City in

         17  multiple ways; reducing traffic, redistributing

         18  traffic in a more balanced manner, and yielding

         19  revenue for transportation, maintenance and

         20  improvement.

         21                 Some East River crossings are free,

         22  and some are tolled. The following results in his

         23  words: "The Queensboro Bridge, which should be used

         24  by 110,000 vehicles a day, is used by 150,000

         25  vehicles a day, and those additional vehicles come
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          2  from the Midtown Tunnel, from the Triborough Bridge,

          3  with no revenue stream to fix the Queensboro Bridge.

          4  It's been crumbling and all our bridges have been

          5  crumbling because there has been no revenue base.

          6  So, it's been bad for us to have those extra 40,000

          7  vehicles pounding the bridge with no revenue stream

          8  to maintain the bridge." End of quote.

          9                 All of the City's bridges need

         10  regular, even constant maintenance, and the City

         11  needs the funds to ensure that occurs. The funds are

         12  not negligible by any means. But they're a lot less,

         13  in both straightforward construction dollars, and in

         14  lost economic activity, than taking roadways and

         15  subways out of service for years at a time. Constant

         16  monitoring and early intervention, as we've been

         17  hearing all day today, are essential. Responsible

         18  budgeting and allocation is part of the answer.

         19  Perhaps congestion pricing is part of the answer,

         20  too.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Ms.

         22  Cohen, for your thoughtful testimony.

         23                 MS. COHEN: Thank you, sir.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And for joining us

         25  today.
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          2                 There being no other witnesses, this

          3  hearing of the City Council's Transportation

          4  Committee is adjourned.

          5                 (Hearing concluded at 2:32 p.m.)

          6

          7

          8

          9

         10

         11

         12

         13

         14

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

         25

                                                            182

          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter, do hereby certify that the

         11  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         12  within proceeding.

         13                 I further certify that I am not

         14  related to any of the parties to this action by

         15  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         16  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         17                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         18  set my hand this 17th day of September 2007.

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

                                   ---------------------

         24                          CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.

         25

                                                            183

          1

          2             C E R T I F I C A T I O N

          3

          4

          5

          6

          7

          8

          9            I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified Shorthand

         10  Reporter and a Notary Public in and for the State of

         11  New York, do hereby certify the aforesaid to be a

         12  true and accurate copy of the transcription of the

         13  audio tapes of this hearing.

         14

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24                 -----------------------

                              CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.

         25

